# STUDENT FINANCE POLICIES WORLDWIDE Leveraging funding for attainment and equity in higher education

Ariane de Gayardon, Centre for Global Higher Education Lucia Brajkovic, The World Bank



Cover photo courtesy of ACE member institution Richmond University.



ACE and the American Council on Education are registered marks of the American Council on Education and may not be used or reproduced without the express written permission of ACE.

American Council on Education One Dupont Circle NW Washington, DC 20036

© 2019. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or by any information storage and retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publisher.

### CONTENTS

Forewordiv
Introduction
National Funding Policies
Type 1: Tuition-Free Policies
Open-access free-tuition systems
Restricted access free-tuition systems
Type 2: Low Tuition Fees Without Student Loan Systems in Place
Type 3: High Tuition Fees Supported by Student Loan Systems
High fees and mortgage-style loans
High fees and income-contingent loans
Type 4: Dual-Track Tuition Systems    19
Targeted Financial Programs and Policies
Student-Level: Programs Targeting Equity in Access and Attainment
Targeted grants
Targeted loans
Income-targeted free tuition
Institution-Level: Performance-Based Policies Targeting Attainment
Concluding Remarks: Raising Equity in Access and Attainment Through Targeted Financing Approaches
References

### FOREWORD

Raising participation and attainment rates in higher education and widening participation to previously underserved groups are tasks shared by governments worldwide. Higher rates of graduation increase the supply of skilled labor to the economy, thus pushing up levels of productivity and overall growth; widened participation allows a broader group of people access to the opportunities that go along with higher education, thus making societies more socially inclusive.

The problem facing policymakers worldwide is that there are a number of different routes to achieving these goals. They can fund students—selectively or universally—through various combinations of policies on student fees plus loans and grants. They can also fund institutions to expand their enrollments through larger subsidies, or even provide specific incentives to institutions that succeed in attracting or graduating students from underserved populations. There is, unfortunately, very little in the way of hard empirical evidence with respect to the absolute and relative efficacy of different approaches, mainly because, for reasons both political and administrative, it is very difficult to generate experiments or even quasi-experiments that can get at these questions.

Even in the absence of conclusive evidence about comparative efficacy, however, it is good to be reminded that there is in fact a positive evidence base for many different kinds of interventions. Such evidence may not be generalizable, and the lessons about success of one policy instrument in one jurisdiction may not always be portable to other locations. Nevertheless, a simple compendium of the known effects of specific policy interventions has hitherto eluded us.

It is for this reason that the work of Ariane de Gayardon and Lucia Brajkovic in this report is so welcome. It is no small accomplishment to have assembled a genuinely global overview of the use of various student financial aid instruments, as well as their known impacts. It is likely that this work will be a reference document on global student financial assistance for some time to come, and it will certainly serve as a basis for more sustained inquiry into comparative effectiveness—the key question for policymakers—over the coming years.

Alex Usher President Higher Education Strategy Associates

### INTRODUCTION

Around the world, higher education is viewed as an engine of social mobility, opening new opportunities for students from disadvantaged backgrounds. There is ample evidence that a postsecondary degree improves earnings and career outcomes over a student's lifetime, but that benefit is not equitably distributed.

Equity and access are often at the forefront of higher education policy agendas, with many efforts directed toward diversifying the composition of student enrollment. While there have been significant improvements in access to higher education all over the world, completion outcomes have not followed suit. When students who are already disadvantaged drop out and fail to attain a degree, often burdened by student loan debt, there is a risk that higher education increases social inequality.

Many national higher education systems have begun to focus on ensuring more equitable enrollment and completion through financial policies that target both students and postsecondary institutions. Evaluating the impact of financial policies on equity and attainment is a complicated task. The policies vary in scope, timing, and specifications, making them unique to each national context. Additionally, governments rarely introduce a new policy in isolation. For instance, the establishment of tuition fees is often linked to a new grant or loan program. The varying national contexts and simultaneous policy shifts contribute to the difficulty of assessing such policies.

This report analyzes national-level higher education financing approaches for a diverse set of countries worldwide, and how each approach relates to equity and attainment. This analysis provides a frame of reference for policymakers to use appropriate funding policies to improve equity and ensure completion.

The report begins with an analysis of cost-sharing funding approaches—policies that determine who pays for higher education. We break national funding policies worldwide into four categories: 1) free tuition (both open and restricted access), 2) low tuition fees, 3) high tuition fees supported by loan schemes (mortgage-style and income-contingent), and 4) dual-track policies.

We then turn to funding approaches designed to improve equity or foster completion and discuss whether these approaches are working. Throughout the report, we draw on examples from many different national systems and look for patterns linking these policies to equity and attainment outcomes for students.

In the conclusion, we consider the future of these policies worldwide and how governments can best use limited resources to ensure that disadvantaged students not only enroll in universities but also complete their degrees.

The central finding of our analysis is that targeting is important. The majority of national cost-sharing policies lack a consistent link with equity and completion. Policies that apply to all students, regardless of their background or means, tend to sustain the status quo in terms of who attains a higher education degree. Non-targeted financial policies subsidize students who do not need it, thus wasting scarce national resources. Policies that target funding directly at disadvantaged students—including grants, loans, and specific tuition fees—have a higher probability of creating a positive impact for those students. Similarly, financial policies that incentivize institutions to improve equity or completion outcomes for marginalized students are promising. The targeting approach, however, raises the important question of how to accomplish it effectively and fairly.

A fair policy would be responsive to students' individual situations, with full and partial relief, so that, for example, a student who exceeds the income threshold by one dollar does not miss out on the entire benefit.

Overall, we see positive changes taking place and innovative approaches sprouting up around the world. However, there is much room for continued refinement. New policies require further evaluation, particularly if we are to determine their impact on increasingly diverse student populations and their potential transferability to other national contexts.

### **NATIONAL FUNDING POLICIES**

National policies organize higher education financing between private stakeholders—such as students and families—and public stakeholders, that is, the government via taxpayers. While some institutions have other means at their disposal for revenue generation, institutions the world over remain mostly reliant on public funding and tuition fees.

Historically, higher education has been publicly funded in most countries, but several forces have shaped changes around the globe. Rising higher education costs at a time of increased enrollment (known as massification), coupled with general government austerity, have led to the increase of cost-sharing (Johnstone and Marcucci 2010). Johnstone (2003) defines cost-sharing as "a shift in the burden of higher education costs from being borne exclusively or predominantly by government, or taxpayers, to being shared with parents and students" (351). Cost-sharing can take many forms, but the most popular is undeniably the establishment and/or increase of tuition fees.

This section focuses on the ways that national cost-sharing policies dictate rules for funding public higher education and their effect on equity, as well as degree attainment. These policies fall into four broad types:

TYPE 1: TUITION-FREE POLICIES TYPE 2: LOW TUITION FEES TYPE 3: HIGH TUITION FEES SUPPORTED BY STUDENT LOAN SYSTEMS TYPE 4: DUAL-TRACK POLICIES

For each type of cost-sharing policy, we provide country examples to illustrate how each policy relates to equity and attainment in higher education. We strike a balance between geographical diversity of examples, and examples for which equity and attainment data are available. The examples show the diversity and complexity behind national cost-sharing approaches, while exposing the importance of the historical, social, political, and cultural contexts in exploring these relationships.

### **TYPE 1: TUITION-FREE POLICIES**

In recent decades, cost-sharing has been the main financing trend in higher education globally, although many countries sustain a system where public higher education is tuition-free (de Gayardon 2018). Geographically, these countries are concentrated in Northern Europe, Eastern Europe, Northern Africa and the Middle East, and Latin America. Revenue for higher education institutions in these countries is entirely covered by the government.

The rationales behind sustaining free higher education are diverse and dependent on the context, including the idea of higher education as a public good or right, the issue of information asymmetry (where the student does not have enough information to make sound decisions about higher education, while the government does), and the need for equal opportunities (de Gayardon 2018). However, the reality is more complex, and there is no clear evidence that free-tuition public higher education systems improve equity or attainment. On the contrary, there is evidence that free-tuition higher education sometimes limits access to the very students that are supposed to benefit from it (Cloete 2015) and can generate high levels of inequality (Guerra Botello et al. 2019). Free-tuition systems are far from exempt from equity issues, indicating that free-tuition policies alone are not sufficient in fostering equity and improving student success.

The following examples are divided in two categories that could have a direct bearing on equity and attainment issues: open-access free-tuition systems and restricted-access free-tuition systems.

### **Open-access free-tuition systems**

Open-access free-tuition systems are becoming rare and limited geographically to three main regions: Latin America, Europe, and the Middle East. In these systems, every high school graduate is guaranteed a seat in the free public higher education system. Although these systems theoretically erect no financial or academic barrier to access and success, equity often remains an issue, and completion is not assured. There is no indication that countries following this funding policy are consistently doing better than other countries when it comes to equity and attainment, despite their seemingly generous financial policies.

### **Country examples**

### **Latin America**

Policy description: Argentina, the Dominican Republic, and Uruguay offer tuition-free higher education to their high school graduates, without entry exams that have become dominant in other parts of Latin America. Table 1 shows participation rates for 18- to 23-year-olds, including equity measures such as gender, income background, and whether students come from a rural or urban area.

	Argentina	Dominican Republic	Uruguay
Net Enrollment Rates	34.4	22.0	24.7
Female	40.6	27.6	31.3
Male	28.3	16.9	18.5
Lowest income quintile	26.6	12.0	5.6
Second income quintile	23.5	14.0	13.3
Third income quintile	34.0	14.7	26.0
Fourth income quintile	41.4	27.8	37.6
Highest income quintile	60.8	46.0	64.3
Disparity Ratio	2.3	3.8	11.5
Rural		15.4	20.9
Urban	34.4	25.6	25.0

**TABLE 1:** Percent of Students Ages 18–23 Enrolled in Higher Education in Open-Access Countries in Latin America, 2016

Source: CEDLAS and The World Bank 2017<sup>1</sup>

#### **Outcomes**:

Access: General net enrollment rates in these three countries indicate they are at the mass higher education stage, according to Trow (2006), meaning that over 15 percent but less than 50 percent of the age group enroll in higher education. Despite these countries' open-access and free-tuition policies, they are lagging behind many others worldwide that are now at the universal stage (meaning that over 50 percent of college-age individuals enroll in higher education) and also behind other Latin American countries (Salmi and Sursock 2018).

In all three countries, women's enrollment rates are significantly higher. The disparity ratio in Uruguay also shows that open-access free-tuition countries can generate high inequity in terms of income background. Finally, there is a divide between urban and rural students, although not as large as in other Latin American countries (see Table 4 below).

Attainment: Completion and attainment data in Latin America are not often readily available. OECD data from Argentina state that only 18 percent of 25- to 34-year-olds are tertiary-educated, well below the OECD average and the average for most other Latin American countries. This is also reflected in the low graduation rate of 30 percent, which is lower than its two Southern Cone neighbors: Chile with 60 percent and Brazil with 51 percent (Bonasegna Kelly 2013). Explanations for this difference include the fact that Chile and Brazil enroll a smaller percentage of the college-age population (thus ensuring that they enroll better academically prepared students), and the fact that only Argentina has a thesis requirement (Bonasegna Kelly and Levy 2013).

<sup>1</sup> CEDLAS-SEDLAC is a statistics database created using socioeconomic surveys in Latin America and the Caribbean. It reports net enrollment rates for tertiary education, i.e., the share of college-age individuals who are attending higher education. Other databases might give different estimates (including gross enrollment rates in the U.S. for instance, i.e., the number of individuals enrolled in higher education independently of age as a proportion of the number of college-age individuals). The authors choose to use SEDLAC estimates in this report because of the availability of equity indicators—including income quintiles and urban/rural differentiation—that are essential to the argument made in this report.

### Europe

Policy description: Several European countries, including the Nordic countries, Germany, and Greece, have open-access free-tuition policies. These countries are all above the OECD average in participation rates of 20- to 29-year olds, except for Sweden.

### Outcomes:

Access: In terms of equity, there is no consistency across these countries, with some above the OECD average and some below in parental education and immigrant status (Table 2). Although all these countries do reasonably well in terms of enrollment rates overall, participation rates of some underrepresented groups remain low in comparison to the OECD average, including students with foreign parents and students whose parents do not have a tertiary degree, despite no apparent barrier to higher education.

### TABLE 2: Participation of 20- to 29-Year-Olds, in Percentages

	Denmark	Germany	Greece	Finland	Norway	Sweden	OECD average
General	32	23	26	28	25	21	22
New entrants (Bachelor's deg	ree or equival	lent)					
whose parents do not have a tertiary degree		48	60	28	43	43	47
with foreign born parents		7	9			17	11

Source: European Commission 2017; Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development 2017

**Attainment:** Looking at attainment among 30- to 34-year-olds for these six European countries reveals some interesting trends (Table 3). Except for Germany, they all have above-average attainment rates. Interestingly, these countries consistently show a larger gender disparity favoring women than the average EU country. Except for Sweden, they also all have a bigger gap in attainment between foreign- and domestic-born students. Germany is the exception, with lower attainment rates, but also less inequity on these two measures, than the EU average.

However, the gap in attainment based on parental education tends to be smaller in these countries, except for Greece. In all of the countries, having a parent who completed tertiary education remains a significant advantage for completing a degree. Overall, nearly all European countries display a large disparity in attainment based on gender (in favor of women) and immigrant status.

	Denmark	Germany	Greece	Finland	Iceland	Norway	Sweden	Europe
General*	47.7	33.2	42.7	46.1	48.8	50.1	51	39.1
Males	41	33.4	36.2	38.4	42.2	42.4	43.4	34.4
Females	54.6	33	48.8	54.4	55.8	58.2	59.2	43.9
Native	45.1	34	46.5	47.8			51.9	39.9
Foreign-born	59.8	30.7	12.3	32.3			49.2	35.3
Change in likelihood of having tertiary type A or more dependent on*	OECD							
Parents' educational attainment below upper- secondary	-2	-9	-15	-10		-14	-9	-13
Parents' educational attainment tertiary	21	26	29	23		22	17	27

### TABLE 3: Attainment for 30- to 34-Year-Olds, in Percentages, 2016

\* *Notes:* Tertiary type A refers to theory-based programs preparing the students for advanced research and professions. The full definition is available at https://stats.oecd.org/glossary/detail.asp?ID=5440. The reference category for the analysis of parental attainment is women ages 40 to 59, whose parents have upper-secondary or post secondary non-tertiary education.

Source: Eurostat: Your Key to European Statistics 2016; Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development 2017

### Restricted access free-tuition systems

Many countries with free-tuition public higher education systems do not have open-access policies. Access is determined by an academic test, which can lead to effectively limiting access of disadvantages students because they are typically less academically prepared. These countries are similar to their open-access counterparts discussed above in terms of general participation and income disparity. In terms of gender parity, women (urban students) still outnumber men but the disparity is generally less pronounced than in open-access countries described above. Overall, these systems seem to foster slightly better gender balance but less rural/urban equity. This could be because rural students are deterred by the higher education entry exams in these countries, and because women are less likely to take the competitive exam (Bertrand 2011).

### **Country examples**

### **Latin America**

Policy description: In Latin America most countries restrict the size of their free public sector. A few examples of such Latin American countries are given below (Table 4). These countries tend to have high private enrollment—over 70 percent in the case of Brazil (Diretoria de Estatísticas Educacionais 2018).

	Bolivia (2017)	Brazil (2015)	Ecuador (2012)	Peru (2016)
Net enrollment rates	32.4	21.2	25.7	43.3
Female	34.7	25.3	28.1	47.5
Male	29.8	17.2	23.3	39.1
Lowest income quintile	21.3	6.2	14.0	21.5
Second income quintile	29.2	10.1	17.8	35.2
Third income quintile	27.9	17.6	22.5	42.2
Fourth income quintile	33.7	28.9	27.1	47.6
Highest income quintile	49.2	56.4	52.2	65.1
Disparity Ratio	2.3	9.2	3.7	3.0
Rural	5.2	7.3	11.1	23.5
Urban	40.4	23.4	31.8	47.6

**TABLE 4:** Percent of Students Ages 18–23 Enrolled in Higher Education in Restricted Access Free-Tuition Latin American Countries

Source: CEDLAS and The World Bank 2017

#### **Outcomes:**

Access: With a highly selective entry exam, only the best and brightest students are accessing free public higher education in Brazil. Those students usually come from the highest strata of society, and their socioeconomic and academic advantages make them more likely to finish their degree. On the other hand, students from lower strata of society, who do not have the academic credential to enter free public higher education or the resources to pay for private higher education (McCowan 2004), are likely to decide not to attend higher education altogether.

**Attainment:** The two simultaneous trends described above may be allowing for continuation of the high completion rate in Brazil. In general, information about graduation rates is hard to come by for most countries in Latin America, but there are data showing that Brazil's graduation rate is around 50 percent. This is higher than Argentina's—which has an open-access policy (Bonasegna Kelly 2013)—and Brazil's highly selective entrance exam might be a significant factor in explaining this difference.

### **EVOLVING APPROACHES: CHANGES IN FINANCIAL POLICIES IN ECUADOR**

In 2008, Ecuador went from a tuition-fee charging to a fee-free public higher education system, in order to "increase equality of opportunity and to enhance access for all qualified students into the system" (Van Hoof et al. 2013, 349). Faced with increasing costs, the government introduced a 2012 reform to create an entry exam. The reforms produced some interesting impacts on equity indicators. The following graphs show trends in net enrollment before and after the 2008 funding reform and the 2012 access reform. Figure 1 shows total and gender enrollment rates, Figure 2 looks at students' income background, and Figure 3 shows the proportion of students who live in rural versus urban areas.



FIGURE 1: Participation Rates in Ecuador from 2003 to 2016, by Gender

FIGURE 2: Participation Rates in Ecuador from 2003 to 2016, by Income Quintile





Source: CEDLAS and The World Bank 2017

Evidently, the change to free-tuition higher education did little for equitable outcomes in terms of gender, income, and urbanicity in Ecuador, mainly allowing for the perpetuation of existing enrollment gaps. Early reports showed that the gap between disadvantaged and advantaged students actually increased after the reform, specifically between students from poor and non-poor backgrounds, and between students from households speaking Spanish and others (Post 2011).

Conversely, the introduction of the entrance exam in 2012 resulted in declining enrollment for all students, while not significantly changing equity gaps. The case of Ecuador shows the limitation of broad funding policies, even radical ones, in promoting equity. It also shows that wide-ranging access reforms affecting all students have little chance of fostering equity. (Policies targeting specific populations will be addressed in Section 3.)

## TYPE 2: LOW TUITION FEES WITHOUT STUDENT LOAN SYSTEMS IN PLACE

Similar to the situation in tuition-free countries, countries with low tuition fees do not necessarily achieve greater access, persistence, or equity for their students. Despite the affordable tuition and fees, this policy fails to account for other expenses—such as room and board, books, and other out-of-pocket expenses—that can prevent low-income and other disadvantaged students from enrolling in tertiary programs.

Historically, loans have been much less prevalent in Europe than in Australia, Canada, New Zealand, and the United States. Exceptions include the Netherlands and the United Kingdom, where loan systems are the most important component of financial aid today. Some European countries tried to set up a student loan scheme, but were not successful. The loan system introduced in France in 1991 was widely considered a failure, as only a limited number of students made use of it. Greece also introduced a student loan system in 1991, only to abolish it in 1995. Spain introduced an experimental loan system as well, but only in the region of Catalonia. Finally, more than a decade ago, Portugal adopted a state-subsidized loan system, but never implemented it (Asplund, Adbelkarim, and Skalli 2008).

Overall, for countries with low tuition and no loan systems there is not a significant difference in enrollment, attainment, or access and equity issues (see Table 5, Table 6, and Table 7 below). Similar to the free-tuition countries, higher education outcomes for low-tuition and no loan systems depend on unique national contexts, the political economy, and other government and institutional policies. In terms of gender equity, the data point to a rather large enrollment disparity in favor of women in each of these countries, and an even larger disparity when it comes to graduation rates. Tertiary educational attainment data also reveal significantly worse outcomes for foreign-born populations in these countries.

### **Country examples**

### France

Policy description: French public universities charge both EU and non-EU students between approximately 200 EUR and 650 EUR per year, depending on the level of study and the degree program. Private universities can charge more, usually between 1,500 and 6,000 EUR per year. France has a need-based grant program to offset the educational costs for low-income students, and the proportion of beneficiaries of these grants is relatively high: 37 percent of students in 2016–17 (Eurydice 2016).

### Outcomes:

Attainment: Currently, completion rates in French bachelor's programs are relatively low, and compared with the overall national attainment rates, less than 40 percent of students graduate within four years (DEPP 2016). It is interesting to note that, in France, graduation rates vary widely according to the type of the high school diploma held. The proportion of vocational diploma-holders entering higher education has more than doubled since 2000 (DEPP 2016), thus contributing to an improvement in access to higher education. However, only 6 percent of these students graduate in four years, compared with nearly half of students holding a general high school diploma (European Commission 2017).

### Italy

Policy description: Tuition fees in Italy vary across universities, and the amount charged to students depends on family income. In public universities, annual fees range between 850 and 1,000 EUR per year, depending on the university. Some of the most renowned public universities may charge fees higher than 1,000 EUR, while private institutions charge up to 16,000 EUR per year.

### Outcomes:

**Access:** Recently, the Italian government started addressing the issue of student support by introducing tuition waivers and reductions, the so-called "no tax area," which applies to more than 650,000 students. Additional resources earmarked for student financial aid reached 50 million EUR in 2016 (European

Commission 2017), and the total amount of resources allotted to regional governments for this purpose has risen from EUR 162 to EUR 217 million. However, these changes are too recent to affect the statistics below, which reflect the former regime with low tuition fees and low financial aid.

**Attainment:** According to the European Commission's 2017 *Education and Training Monitor* report, Italy's tertiary educational attainment rate for 30- to 34-year-olds is one of the lowest in the EU, and the system is marked by high drop-out rates and excessive duration of enrollment. There is also a large gender disparity. The rate of attainment for men was 19.9 percent in 2016 (the EU average for men was 34.4 percent that year), compared with 32.5 percent for women.

### Spain

Policy description: In Spain, each regional government sets its own tuition fees for bachelor's degrees, and, in public universities, tuition fees can range between 680 and 1,400 EUR per year. In private universities, a bachelor's program can cost between 5,000 EUR and 12,000 EUR per year (Studyportals 2018).

### Outcomes:

**Attainment:** Enrollment in higher education institutions in Spain has been falling in recent years, as reported by the European Commission's *Education and Training Monitor 2017*. On the other hand, the country's tertiary educational attainment rate is high. In 2016, attainment in Spain reached 40.1 percent, placing it above the EU average but slightly under the Europe 2020 target of 44 percent. The Spanish gender disparity is increasing, with women surpassing men by almost 13 percentage points—46.6 versus 33.5. There is an even wider gap between Spanish- and foreign-born young people. The tertiary educational attainment rate of students born in Spain was 44.8 percent in 2016, double that of students with immigrant backgrounds.

### Portugal

Policy description: Public universities and polytechnic institutions in Portugal are free to set their own tuition fees. However, the Ministry of Education establishes a minimum amount that varies each year, depending on the minimum national wage rate. The minimum amount of tuition fees students are required to pay, according to government regulations, is 1.3 times the minimum national wage rate. In general, tuition fees are higher than the minimum recommended. Studyportals (2018) reports that on average, full-time students in bachelor's and master's programs pay a yearly tuition fee of 950 to 1,250 EUR.

### Outcomes:

Access: When it comes to equitable access to higher education, as in France, students' paths are largely determined by their choice of upper-secondary education. Since 2016, there have been public debates on how to adjust access policies to respond to the growing diversity of secondary education options, while preserving program quality (CNE 2017). Around 78 percent of general secondary education graduates continue to higher education, whereas only 6 percent of vocational secondary education graduates did so in 2014 (DGEEC 2015). In order to tackle this issue and ensure more equitable access, Portugal introduced a new mechanism to boost enrollment from the upper-secondary vocational education pipeline, through specific training programs called Cursos Tecnicos Superiores Profissionais, or CTeSPs. As of April 2017, 598 CTeSPs have been approved (European Commission 2017).

**Attainment:** Over the past decade, the country has experienced a significant increase in tertiary attainment; it rose from 14.9 percent in 2003 to 34.6 percent in 2016. Still, the national target of 40 percent by 2020 may be difficult to achieve (European Commission 2017).

	Italy	Spain	Portugal	France
Enrollment rates (total)	21.8	31.6	23.5	21.0
Female	24.3	32.6	23.6	22.7
Male	19.5	30.5	23.4	19.4

### TABLE 5: Enrollment Rates (in Percentages) for 20- to 29-Year-Olds, 2015

### TABLE 6: Graduation Rates (in Percentages), 2015

	Italy	Spain	Portugal
Graduation rates (total)	34.7	60.4	40.5
Female	41.9	69.8	48.6
Male	27.8	51.5	32.6

Source: OECD data, 2015

### **TABLE 7:** Tertiary Educational Attainment for 30- to 34-Year-Olds

	Italy	Spain	Portugal	France	EU average
Total	26.2	40.1	34.6	43.6	39.1
Native-born	29.5	44.8	35.1	44.3	39.9
Foreign-born	13.4	22.4	29.2	39.1	35.3

Source: European Commission, Education and Training Monitor 2017

# TYPE 3: HIGH TUITION FEES SUPPORTED BY STUDENT LOAN SYSTEMS

Ziderman (2013) articulates three objectives driving the implementation of student loan systems: cost-sharing, social targeting, and student independence. In this section, we are particularly interested in student loans established, at least in part, to enable cost-sharing. In other words, these are loan systems that enable tuition fee increases, in order to generate income for higher education institutions. Countries with this type of financial policy include Colombia, Australia, Canada, the United States, England, and South Korea (until recently). The social targeting objective will be addressed in Section 3, while student loans for student independence (that is, to enable students to be fully financially independent) are beyond the scope of this report.

At their inception, student loans were born out of a concern for equity. Loans allowed all students to afford tuition fees, including those from low-income or disadvantaged backgrounds (Woodhall 2001). Research has indeed demonstrated that increasing tuition fees without increasing financial aid decreases participation, in particular for low-SES students (Dearden, Fitzsimons, and Wyness 2011). Compared with grants, student loans represent a more sensible solution for financially stressed governments, as they can count on the repayment of at least some of the money. The prospect of repayment also allows governments to be more generous, with loan programs being more widely accessible than grant programs.

However, the reality of loan programs today is that not all students are equal in their ability to borrow or repay debt. It is impossible to discuss student loans in the context of equity without referring to the studies that look at debt aversion. Research shows that debt aversion is more prevalent among minority and low-in-come students (Boatman, Evans, and Soliz 2017; Callender and Jackson 2005). Students from these back-grounds may be less inclined to take out student loans, or the amount they borrow may be restricted. This behavior directly affects higher education equity and attainment (Goldrick-Rab 2016).

Moreover, student loan programs may extend this inequity beyond the time of study to the period of repayment (Dynarski 2016). This means that students from disadvantaged backgrounds are at higher risk of defaulting on their loans, and that the repayment period may be extended and the amount increased due to accruing interest. This situation may limit students' life choices (de Gayardon et al. 2018).

Two types of student loans exist today: mortgage-style loans (also known as time-based repayment) and income-contingent loans. The remainder of this section addresses the implications for equity and attainment of each loan type with examples from several countries.

### High fees and mortgage-style loans

Mortgage-style loans are the most prevalent type of student loans in the world. With a mortgage-style loan, students have to repay the total amount borrowed over a fixed period of time—for instance, 10 years in the United States—through monthly payments. The main issue with most mortgage-style loans is that they do not limit the repayment burden; the amount is decided independently of the student's capacity to repay. This can lead to financial hardship well beyond the formal years of study.

Overall, however, it seems that student loans have helped increase enrollment in higher education. But, it is not clear that they have had an impact on inequity reduction. The three countries described below—United States, Canada, and Japan—have experienced very different trends in equity by income quintile over time, suggesting that loans alone are not a solution. At the same time, all three countries continue to struggle with context-specific inequities, including a gender gap in Japan and Aboriginal-related inequity in Canada. Clearly, cultural and historical factors are important.

### **Country examples**

### **United States**

Policy description: Since 1965, the U.S. government has issued mortgage-style loans, a major feature of U.S. higher education, and has recently added an option to make loans income-contingent.

### Outcomes:

Access: A recent report (Cahalan et al. 2017) shows that under this funding policy, and as reliance on student loans has risen, the gap in continuation rate between high school graduates in the lowest and highest income quartiles who enroll in higher education has remained significant. In 2015, the difference was 25 percentage points, down from 31 percentage points in 1990 (Table 8). Although the three-year continuation rate to higher education for high school graduates of all ethnicities has increased over the past 40 years, the ethnicity gap between White and Black and Hispanic has also increased overall and was wider in 2015 than in 1976. It is important to note, however, that the gap was at its widest in the 1990s and has grown smaller over the past 10 years.

**Attainment:** The same report also analyzes equity in bachelor's degree attainment over the same period when the number of students borrowing and the amount borrowed have risen. In the United States, attainment by age 24 has increased for students from all income quartiles, although unevenly. The gap between the lowest and highest income quartiles has increased between 1970 (34 percentage points) and 2015 (46 percentage points) (Table 8).

	Three-year continuation rate		Bachelor's degree attainment by age 24		
	1970	2015	1970	2015	
Lowest income quartile	46%	61%	6%	12%	
Second income quartile	56%	68%	11%	20%	
Third income quartile	64%	76%	15%	35%	
Highest income quartile	79%	86%	40%	58%	

**TABLE 8:** Three-Year Continuation Rate of High School Graduates and Bachelor's Attainment by Age 24, by Parental Income Quartile (1970–2015)

#### Source: Cahalan et al. 2017

The Cahalan et al. (2017) report also analyzes attainment by low-income and first-generation status, showing little to no progress between the 1996 cohort and the 2004 cohort in six-year graduation rates for first-generation students. The six-year graduation rate for the 2010 cohort also shows significant differences based on race, with Black students having the lowest completion rates at 38 percent, followed by Hispanic at 45.8 percent, compared with 62 percent for White students (Shapiro et al. 2017).

#### Canada

Policy description: The government of Canada established the Canadian Student Loans Plan in 1964 to provide state-guaranteed loans to all students with financial need. In 2018, 43 percent of students graduated with debt to the government, a percentage that has remained steady since 2012 (Usher 2018). This consistency of student debt levels is probably due to the increasing importance of grants in financial aid awarded in Canada.

#### **Outcomes:**

Access: A 2017 report analyzed enrollment by income quintile and showed an overall increase across all income backgrounds between 2001 and 2014, the highest improvement being for low-income students (Frenette 2017).

Attainment: OECD data for Canada indicate that the rate of tertiary-educated 25- to 34-year olds has increased from 48 percent in 2000 to 61 percent in 2016. This is in large part due to an increase in attainment among women: the gap between attainment of men and women has nearly doubled in 16 years, from 11 to 19 percentage points. This happened at a time when the percentage of students resourcing to student loans was decreasing (Statistics Canada, n.d.; Usher 2018), and would be consistent with research showing that women are more debt averse (Bates et al. 2009) and therefore are more willing to use other financial instruments.

Of particular importance to Canada is the Aboriginal population, whose attainment significantly lags behind that of the entire population. A 2008 report found that the tertiary attainment of 25- to 34-year old Aboriginals was 35 percent, compared with 51 percent for the rest of the population (Gallop and Bastien 2016). However, the Aboriginal population in Canada has been gaining ground, albeit slowly: 10.9 percent of Aboriginals ages 25 to 64 years had a bachelor's degree in 2016, compared with 7.7 percent in 2006, with an advantage for those living off reserve (Statistics Canada 2017). This is probably due in part to students living on reserve being less academically prepared for higher education (Thorp 2013). Financial reasons are one of the main explanations for non-completion of higher education for Aboriginal students—including inadequate financial resources and the need to work to afford their studies. This is, in part, due to ineligibility issues faced by Aboriginal students (Usher 2009).

### Japan

Policy description: Japan's student loan system was designed to help families afford rising tuition fees at a time of income stagnation. There are two student loan types. One is interest-free (type 1) and has been available since 1968. The other is low-interest (type 2) and was introduced in 1984. While the prevalence of type 1 loans has been constant over the years, the number of students receiving type 2 loans has risen exponentially, especially after the relaxation of requirements in 1999. Student loans have become critical to the affordability of higher education in Japan. In 2017, Japan introduced an income-contingent loan system, but the figures provided here pertain to the older system of mortgage-style loans.

### **Outcomes:**

Access: Data from the Ministry of Education in Japan show an overall improvement of higher education enrollment rates over time, and especially as loans were made available. Enrollment increased from 37.4 percent of 18-year olds in 1980 to 55.1 percent in 2013 (Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology 2018). On the other hand, a 2017 report (Kobayashi and Armstrong 2017) shows evidence of significant inequity in Japan's higher education system, fueled in part by rising debt burdens. In 2006, 35 percent of high school graduates from the lowest income quintile continued to higher education, while as much as 61 percent of those from the highest income quintile did. This disparity has increased over time. While it was confined to private universities in 2006, by 2016 there was a similar disparity for students enrolled at national universities, with students from the two lowest income quintiles.

**Attainment:** A study by Kariya compared bachelor's degree attainment across several Japanese cohorts and found overall improvement from 27 percent for those who graduated high school between 1985 and 1990 to 47 percent for those who graduated high school between 1998 and 2005. This was fueled in part by increasing student attainment in private institutions (Kariya 2011). The same study shows that higher education attainment is largely influenced by parental education and parental occupation. Gender inequity favoring men is also a persistent feature of higher education in Japan (Kariya 2011).

The two tables below summarize equity and attainment data available for the three countries discussed above (Table 9, Table 10).

	United States* (2015)	Canada (2014)	Japan (2006)
Lowest income quintile	61	47	35
Second income quintile	68	57	
Third income quintile	76	65	
Fourth income quintile	86	71	
Highest income quintile		79	61
Disparity ratio	1.4	1.7	1.7

### TABLE 9: Enrollment Data for Countries with Mortgage-Style Loans, in Percentages

\*Note: U.S. data are displayed in quartiles instead of quintiles

Source: Cahalan et al. 2017; Frenette 2017; Kobayashi and Armstrong 2017

### TABLE 10: Attainment Data for Countries with Mortgage-Style Loans, 25- to 34-Year-Olds, in Percentages

	United States	Canada	Japan
2000	38	48	48
2016	48	61	60
Male	43	52	59
Women	52	70	62
Change in likelihood of having tertiary type A or more			
dependent on*			
Parents' educational attainment below upper-secondary	-17	-8	-13
Parents' educational attainment tertiary	28	25	23

\*Notes: These data refer to the years 2012 or 2015. Tertiary type A refers to theory-based programs preparing the students for advanced research and professions. The full definition is available at https://stats.oecd.org/glossary/detail.asp?ID=5440. The reference category for the analysis of parental attainment is women ages 40 to 59, whose parents have upper-secondary or postsecondary non-tertiary education.

Source: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development 2017, 2018

### High fees and income-contingent loans

Australia first created income-contingent loans (ICLs) in 1989, and since then other countries worldwide have adopted them. However, only recently have these types of loans attracted the interest of governments in countries such as Brazil, Colombia, and Japan. Income-contingent loans are designed to protect the borrower from default by tying repayment to income. After leaving higher education, employed adults repay a fixed percentage of their income toward their student loans, while those who are unemployed or with low incomes are exempt from repayment. Employed graduates either repay the full loan amount or, in some cases, they repay for a fixed number of years after leaving higher education when the loan is forgiven.

Although income contingent loans were designed with equity in mind, they do not seem to automatically engender equity in a higher education system (Table 11). This can be seen particularly through examples of Hungary and England described below, where the increase of student fees accompanied the introduction of ICLs. In Australia, while ICLs have helped improve participation, it is not yet clear how these financial tools can also improve student success.

### **Country examples**

### **Australia**

Policy description: As of 2018, HELP (Higher Education Loan Program) provides loans to students covering their tuition fees. Students repay a flat percentage of their entire income (if it exceeds AUS\$51,957) until repayment. The percentage of income repaid toward student loans is on a sliding scale between 2 and 8 percent, depending on income.

Australian student loans are still expanding significantly. In 2009, 368,679 students took out student loans for Commonwealth subsidized places. In 2016, 601,054 students took out these loans—a 63 percent increase over seven years (Ey 2018). In 2017, 87.7 percent of Australian students were supported by the Commonwealth—meaning they paid a lower course fee—and deferred these fees through the loan program (Universities Australia 2018).

### Outcomes:

Access: Since this loan system has been in place, the enrollment of low-SES students has risen by 55 percent between 2008 and 2017, while the enrollment of all domestic students increased by 38 percent (Australian Government Department of Education and Training 2018). Similarly, there was a 48 percent increase of regional and remote students, a 106 percent increase for students with disability, and an 86 percent increase for Indigenous students (Universities Australia 2018). Based on enrollment figures, the student loan regime improved equity for many traditionally underrepresented student groups in Australia.

**Attainment:** Australia's degree attainment rate has also been improving, with an increase of 27 percent in 2004 to 39 percent in 2017 of 25- to 34-year olds. However, the overall increase in attainment has not benefited all students equally. For instance, 28- to 34-year olds in major cities are twice as likely to hold a tertiary degree as those in other areas (Universities Australia 2018). Analysis of the six-year completion rate of the 2010 cohort also reveals gender disparity: 62.8 percent of men have graduated after six years, compared with 68.1 percent of women, with these rates remaining stable and even slightly decreasing over six cohorts (2005 to 2010 entry years). Only 40.5 percent of Indigenous students from the 2010 cohort had graduated after six years, compared with 66.4 percent of non-Indigenous students. Similar to the gender variable, these rates have remained stable over the past six years, with a slight decrease. Finally, students from low-SES background had a 60.6 percent six-year graduation rate compared with 70.5 percent for those from high-SES backgrounds (Australian Government Department of Education and Training 2018).

While the student loan system in Australia seems to have contributed to improvements in postsecondary participation for all populations, outcomes remain inequitable for higher education completion, particularly among minorities.

### England

Policy description: In 1998, nearly 10 years after Australia, England adopted a similar income-contingent loan system, but with a somewhat different motive. In England, income contingent loans were intended to help students cover the cost of living at a time when tuition fees for higher education were tied to parental income. This type of loans is referred to as a "maintenance loan." Later, in 2006, England introduced tuition fee loans when tuition fees rose to £3,000 per year (and then increased to £9,000 in 2012), regardless

of students' backgrounds or ability to pay. As of 2018, students pay 9 percent of their annual income over £25,000 toward their student loan debt, with all outstanding balance forgiven after 30 years. The English higher education system now depends upon student loans to cover tuition fees and cost of living, with 90 percent of students taking out maintenance loans in 2015–16, and 93 percent taking out tuition fee loans (Bolton 2019).

### Outcomes:

Access: Reforms in England have usually combined increases in tuition fees with increases in loan and grant availability, making it hard to evaluate each component separately. The fact that higher education participation rates have risen since loans were introduced, even for the most economically disadvantaged groups, points to the effectiveness of England's funding system in allowing increases in tuition fees while shielding access. Between 2006 and 2014, English 18-year-olds in advantaged areas of the country went from being 3.83 to 2.53 times more likely to enter higher education than their peers from disadvantaged areas (Department for Business, Innovation and Skills 2015). However, this rise in equity can probably best be explained by the availability of means-tested grants, i.e., grants that are awarded and whose amount vary based on parental income, which, until recently, have shielded low-income students from the burden of student loans (Azmat and Simion 2017).<sup>2</sup>

### Hungary

Policy description: The Hungarian student loan system was first introduced in 2001 and is unique in its combination of four features: it is universal, income-contingent, self-sustaining, and privately funded (Berlinger 2009). Initially, the loans supported only cost of living, but in 2012–13, the program was extended to cover tuition fees of self-financing students in the dual-track tuition system. The Hungarian higher education system is divided into two tracks: in the first, students are fully financed by the government, and in the second, students pay tuition fees (we discuss other countries with dual track tuition systems in the following section). The Hungarian tuition fees loan scheme applies to the second category of students. Hungarian students repay six percent of the national minimum wage, or 6 percent of their actual monthly income, whichever is higher. Private lenders make loan funding available and can choose to increase the repayment rate to 8 percent.

### Outcomes:

Access: When looking at equity trends in Hungary after 2012–13, it is important to note that other reforms accompanied changes in the student loan system, including the possibility of higher fees and stricter requirements for state-funded students (Berács et al. 2017), meaning that observed changes in participation and attainment could be due to any feature of the financial package. However, there is indication that low-income students in Hungary are more likely to take out a loan. One in four students also declare that without a student loan they would not have been able to graduate (Ferreira and Farkas 2009). In 2012–13, the number of students started to decline and in fact, decreased by nearly 30 percent between 2011 and 2013, when it stabilized. This reflected drops in the number of both state and self-funded students (European Commission 2017).

<sup>2</sup> See England policy example box for more on the English means-tested grants.

**Attainment:** With an estimated dropout rate of 36 percent for undergraduate students in 2015, this situation could have a profound impact on academic attainment in Hungary in the future. Some initial effects of the 2012–13 reform are already reflected in early measurement of attainment: while Hungary had more than doubled the rate of 25- to 34-year olds educated to the tertiary level—from 15 percent in 2000 to 32 percent in 2015—the 2016 figure shows a decrease to 30 percent (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development 2017).

TABLE 11: Attainment Dat	ta for Countrie	s with Income	Contingent	Loans, 25-	to 34-Year-C	)lds, in
Percentages						

	Australia	UK	Hungary		
2000	31	29	15		
2016	49	52	30		
Share of women among first-time graduates	56	56	59		
Change in likelihood of having tertiary type A or more dependent on*					
Parents' educational attainment	-9	-13'			
below upper-secondary					
Parents' educational attainment	29	31'			
tertiary					

\*Notes: These data refer to the years 2012 or 2015. Tertiary type A refers to theory-based programs preparing the students for advanced research and professions. The full definition is available at https://stats.oecd.org/glossary/detail.asp?ID=5440. The reference category for the analysis of parental attainment is women ages 40 to 59, whose parents have upper-secondary or postsecondary non-tertiary education.

Source: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development 2017

### **TYPE 4: DUAL-TRACK TUITION SYSTEMS**

As noted in the previous section, dual-track tuition systems offer restricted, merit-based entry to free (or very low cost) higher education for a limited pool of applicants, and fee-based entry for a second pool of applicants. The dual track policies reflect the government's or institution's need to limit the number of tuition-free places for financial, political, and/or legal reasons, generally by using a single-entry examination. Such entry exams have a cut-off point, where students who score above the cut-off receive free tuition, and those who score below the cut-off but still do relatively well on the exam can enroll at the university as tuition-paying students. Generally, this approach is likely to achieve significant revenue supplementation but with problematic impacts on equality (Marcucci and Johnstone 2007), since minority and lower SES students are likely to be less academically prepared than more affluent students, thus end up being the ones paying tuition.

Most of the countries of the former Soviet Union, as well as most of the former Socialist Bloc countries of Central and Eastern Europe employ dual track tuition systems (Mateju and Simonova 2003). China sustained this policy until 1997, when it was replaced with a nearly universal tuition fee expectation (Li and Min 2000). Many countries in Africa also have dual track systems, as they are politically (and sometimes legally) obligated to provide free or nearly free higher education but lack the revenue for successful implementation of such approach (Sawyerr 2002; Johnstone 2004). In general, dual-track tuition policies seem to have a positive impact on increasing institutional capacity and access. They also have a positive impact on institutional financial stability, by introducing additional revenue streams from tuition fees. However, there is no clear evidence that this has a bearing on equity, and students from high-income backgrounds seem to be advantaged twice in these systems: they are most likely to be awarded a subsidized place on merit, and can afford non-subsidized places.

### **Country examples**

### **Russian Federation**

Policy description: In 1992, with passing of a new education law, Russian universities were allowed to open new educational programs and offer commercial services. This resulted in the introduction of a dual-track tuition system. Even though the idea of paying tuition fees was not widespread before 1998–2000, the dual-track tuition system gradually became an important instrument for Russian universities, since the government does not exercise as much control over funding generated by market activities as it does over public funding (National Research University Higher School of Economics 2014).

In many ways, Russia still supports the ideal of free higher education, yet more than 50 percent of university students paid tuition fees in 2008. By 2014, tuition fees made up two-fifths of overall university revenue. This growth in resources was accompanied by an increase in per-student public spending.

### Outcomes:

Access: Despite the revenue growth and increased spending, social inequity still characterizes the Russian system. In particular, students from highly educated families are overrepresented in the higher education system, as well as in the best institutions. Eurostudent data from 2011 show that Russia is one of the most inequitable higher education systems in Europe, with high social immobility based on parental education and social class. Moreover, there is little difference between students' backgrounds in free or fee-paying tracks, meaning that both tracks favor students from advantaged backgrounds (Smolentseva 2017).

**Attainment:** Following the increase in revenue, Russia also experienced a massive rise in tertiary attainment in the two decades following 1990 (National Research University Higher School of Economics 2014). In 2012, the Russian Federation had the largest percentage of 25- to 64-year olds who had attained tertiary education out of all OECD and partner countries with available data: 53 percent, compared with the OECD average of 32 percent and a G20 average of 27 percent (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development 2014).

### **EVOLVING APPROACHES: DUAL-TRACK TUITION SYSTEM IN EAST AFRICA**

Following independence movements in Kenya, Uganda, and Tanzania, these countries awarded support to higher education students in the form of free room and board, free tuition, and spending money (with the exception of Tanzania, where bursaries were only introduced in 1967). One of the reasons for these benefits was the general expectation that most students would join their country's civil service after finishing their studies, thus replacing the departing colonial administrators. Following this rationale, governments invested heavily in higher education during that era.

The situation began changing in the late 1980s, when external aid providers and donors, such as the World Bank, started emphasizing the importance of primary and secondary education for spurring economic development, which led to a relative decrease in higher education funding. For example, between 1985 and 1989, 17 percent of the World Bank's worldwide education spending involved higher education, and 10 years later the proportion had declined to 7 percent (Bloom, Canning, and Chan 2006). At the same time, the demand for higher education increased dramatically due to demographic growth, as well as growing rates of secondary education completion. In order to tackle this issue, governments and universities in East Africa introduced dual-track tuition policies, with the hope of expanding higher education capacity without introducing politically unpopular tuition fees.

In terms of university admissions, in Uganda there is no set cut-off point that determines who pays tuition fees. The cut-off point for admission into each program is determined by the score of the last person accepted into that program. A government quota limits the number of non-paying students, but there are no legal limitations on the number of tuition-paying students. Universities themselves determine the proportion of students that they accept. The capacity of higher education in Uganda was significantly broadened by the introduction of dual-track tuition policies; however, survey data (Carrol 2004) suggest that they may have also reinforced income-based inequities in access and attainment. In reality, there is very little difference in socioeconomic status between the government-sponsored and tuition-paying students, both coming from relatively affluent families (Marcucci, Johnstone, and Ngolovoi 2008).

### **TABLE 12:** Types of Funding Policies

Type 1: TUITION-FREE POLICIES	Revenue for higher education institutions is entirely covered by the government, using tax-payers' money.	Northern Europe, Eastern Europe, Northern Africa and the Middle East, and Latin America
Open-access free-tuition systems	All high school graduates are guaranteed a seat in the free public higher education system.	Latin America, Europe, and the Middle East
Restricted access free- tuition systems	Access to public higher education system is determined on the basis of an academic test.	Latin America: e.g., Bolivia, Peru, Ecuador, Brazil
Type 2: LOW TUITION FEES	Affordable tuition and fees, but no provisions for other expenses—such as cost of room and board, books, and other out-of-pocket expenses.	Europe: e.g., France, Italy, Portugal, Spain
Type 3: HIGH TUITION FEES SUPPORTED BY STUDENT LOAN SYSTEMS	Student loans are established to enable cost- sharing and offset high tuition fees.	E.g., Colombia, Australia, Canada, U.S., England, and South Korea (until recently)
High fees and mortgage- style loans	Students have to repay the total amount borrowed over a fixed period of time through monthly payments, the amount is decided independently of the person's capacity to repay.	E.g., U.S., Canada, Japan
High fees and income- contingent loans	Designed to protect the borrower from default by tying repayment to income. After leaving higher education, adults in employment repay a fixed percentage of their income, while those in unemployment or with low incomes do not.	E.g., Australia, England, Colombia, Hungary
Type 4: DUAL-TRACK TUITION SYSTEM	Tuition policy is characterized by a restricted, merit-based entry to free (or very low cost) higher education for a limited pool of applicants, accompanied with another pool of applicants who are allowed entry on a fee- paying basis.	E.g., Russian Federation, Kenya, Uganda, Tanzania, Romania

# TARGETED FINANCIAL PROGRAMS AND POLICIES

# STUDENT-LEVEL: PROGRAMS TARGETING EQUITY IN ACCESS AND ATTAINMENT

To address equity issues, many countries have turned toward targeted financial aid policies. These policies restrict eligibility criteria to students from underserved groups, thus providing additional financial help to specific categories of people. In a way, these policies constitute positive discrimination to achieve better equity in higher education, by giving more to the populations who need it. By definition, these policies favor equity over equality, and are therefore important in the debate over higher education financing and equity.

Targeting can take different forms and represents the priorities of a higher education system in terms of equity. Targeting criteria often include socioeconomic factors (for example, parental income, number of siblings, and eligibility for free school meals), but can also include ethnicity, gender, or disability variables. These criteria, however, mostly apply to grants. The vast majority of other targeted schemes, like loans and discriminated tuition fees, tend to use income background.

This section analyzes three different types of state-funded targeted financial aid: grants or scholarships for specific students, loans that are only available to some of the student population, and targeted tuition fees in which fees vary depending on students' backgrounds. This section analyzes only those programs developed for the specific purpose of equity, while recognizing that similar programs exist with other purposes, such as fee differentiation to increase enrollment in specific fields.

### **Targeted grants**

Targeted grants are probably the most widely used financial aid program to address equity issues. Unlike other types of financial aid detailed below, grants awarded to students use a wide variety of eligibility criteria and, as a result, can be targeted to many different groups. Eligible students receive grants directly from the government or a private funder to help cover the cost of their higher education.

While these types of grants have been widespread globally, there is little evaluation of their efficacy outside of the United States. The numerous different grant programs in the United States, in particular at the state level, have been the focus of many research pieces. Some of these research pieces are highlighted below.

### **Country examples**

### Australia

Program description: High on the agenda for Australian higher education is the need to guarantee equal opportunities and success for students from Indigenous backgrounds. In 1990, Australia established the first funding stream for Indigenous higher education—the Aboriginal Participation Incentive (Zacharias et al. 2016). It later became the Commonwealth Indigenous Scholarship to help low-income Indigenous students with the costs of relocation and study. This program was replaced in 2017 with the Indigenous Student Success Program, which provides two scholarships: the Indigenous Commonwealth Education Costs Scholarship (ICECS), whose value was AUS\$2,676 for the year 2018, and the Indigenous Common-

wealth Accommodation Scholarship (ICAS), whose value was AUS\$5,355. Indigenous students can often add targeted institutional scholarships to these government scholarships.

The ICECS and ICAS are particularly valuable for Indigenous students, as their expenses are greater than those of non-Indigenous students. This is due, in part, to the fact that one-third of Indigenous students are supporting dependents. At the same time, Indigenous students are less likely to receive financial support from their family to contribute toward their studies (Universities Australia 2018).

### Outcomes:

Access: Between 2007 and 2015, there was a 69 percent increase in the number of Indigenous students in higher education in Australia, and a 77 percent increase in commencing Indigenous students. This positive trend is likely associated with the scholarship system, as well as the many other policies in place to help Indigenous students.

**Attainment:** Persistent inequity, however, is most visible in degree completion data, with 17.5 percent of the Indigenous population leaving after one year, compared with 7.6 percent of the non-Indigenous student population. Similarly, only 47.3 percent of Indigenous students ever complete their studies, compared with 73.9 percent for non-Indigenous students (Smith et al. 2018).

A 2016 report (Zacharias et al. 2016) analyzed the effect of equity scholarships at Queensland University of Technology, including the Commonwealth Indigenous Scholarship. It showed that overall scholarship holders had higher retention rates than non-scholarship holders. This was particularly true for Indigenous scholarship holders, who had a 6.7 percentage point higher retention rate than other Indigenous students. The report also looked at student success rates (i.e., graduation rates) and found variable results across all equity groups, with scholarship holders having lower success rates overall than the general population. However, this was not true for Indigenous students, who had higher success rates if they received a scholarship: 2.8 percentage points higher than Indigenous students as a whole.

While the Commonwealth Indigenous Scholarship may be helping Indigenous students enroll in Australian higher education, its effect on graduation rates seems limited. There are many factors involved in success and retention of students beyond financial ones, which could explain the difference (Kerby 2015).

### **United States**

Program description: The United States provides the most extensive evaluation of the impact of different grants and scholarships on students. The Pell Grant is a need-based financial aid available to domestic students enrolling in higher education in the United States. It is the main federal financial aid program aimed at helping low-income students with the cost of study. The Pell Grant amount depends on two main criteria: the expected family contribution (EFC) based on parental income and the cost of attendance. In 2018–2019, the maximum Pell Grant was \$6,095 per year.

### Outcomes:

Access and Attainment: Analyses of Pell Grants conclude that they increase access to higher education and have a positive impact on completion (Bettinger 2004; Denning, Marx, and Turner 2017; Dynarski 2002; Mundel and Rice 2008). However, a recent study showed that Pell Grant holders still have a lower average graduation rate than those who did not receive a Pell Grant (Kelchen 2017). This means that the Pell Grant program in itself is insufficient to bridge the gap in completion between students from rich and poor backgrounds.

Program description: As highlighted above, many studies on the efficacy of grants come from the United States and examine changes implemented at the state level. The results of a selection of recent research studies focusing on state-level grant programs are highlighted below.

### Outcomes:

### Access and attainment:

Using data from the Florida Access Grant, Castleman and Long (2016) found that recipients had higher enrollment, especially in four-year colleges, as well as 22 percent higher completion rates over six years.

Data from a private need-based grant program in Wisconsin also show that these grants are positively linked with four-year completion rates (Goldrick-Rab et al. 2016).

### EVOLVING APPROACHES: ENGLAND-ON AND OFF WITH MEANS-TESTED STUDENT GRANTS

England is possibly one of the most interesting case studies globally to look at the impact of means-tested grants on equity in higher education. Indeed, England has somewhat of an interesting history, with student grants having been abolished twice in the past 30 years and re-established in the years between. In 1998, as England introduced tuition fees and expanded its loan system, it abolished previously offered grants aimed at helping students with the cost of living. Such grants were re-introduced in 2004, in isolation of any other reform and two years prior to a hike in tuition fees. These actions were followed by incentives created in 2006 to increase grants given by institutions (called institutional bursaries in England). More recently, means-tested maintenance grants were again abolished in 2017.

Examining the re-introduction of means-tested grants in 2004, Dearden, Fitzsimons, and Wyness (2014) showed that a  $\pm$ 1,000 increase in student grants leads to a nearly four percentage point increase in the participation of eligible (i.e., low-income) students.

Murphy and Wyness (2016) added information on student completion by analyzing the incentive established in 2006 by the English government to increase institutional bursaries. They found that a £1,000 increase in bursary raised the probability of completion of the first year by 1.4 percentage points, 1.6 for the second year, and 1.9 for the third year.

The case of England seems to be pointing to a positive impact of means-tested grants on both participation and completion of low-income students.

### **Targeted loans**

This section examines student loan programs for social targeting (Ziderman 2013). These student loans are directed specifically at poor or disadvantaged students to help them afford the costs of higher education, thus contributing to social equity.

### **Country examples**

### **South Africa**

Program description: South African banks offer student loan packages and guarantee their availability to all. However, a parent or a guardian is needed as a guarantor of these loans, making them unattainable for some students. A government-backed program—the National Student Financial Aid Scheme (NSFAS)—was created in 1991 and is limited to students from disadvantaged backgrounds. The loan amount depends on family income following a sliding scale, and the loan is income-contingent.

### Outcomes:

Access: In its first 10 years, NSFAS provided aid to more than 500,000 students, 99 percent of whom were Black. Students that received NFSAS aid passed 73 percent of their undergraduate courses (Jackson 2002). A 2016 report (Van Broekhuizen, Van der Berg, and Hofmeyr 2016) looked at access for the 2008 cohort in South Africa across many equity measures. Black students who graduate from high school are comparatively less likely to enroll in university than White students, even after controlling for a range of factors. They are also less likely to complete a degree. There also is a difference in enrollment rates between students from schools in the three poorest quintiles and others, but it is relatively small.

Attainment: Interestingly, the 2016 report also analyzed completion data from the 2008 NFSAS cohort. It provides both dropout and completion rates for students undertaking undergraduate studies who come from the poorest secondary schools (belonging to the first three quintiles of secondary schools). The report clearly shows that receiving NSFAS aid is positively associated with completion. More specifically, receiving NSFAS aid is consistently associated with a lower dropout rate throughout the years of study. Similarly, receiving NFSAS leads to higher completion rate, and the gap widens with the years of study, cumulating to a more than 10 percentage point difference in completion rates six years after entry. These results must, however, be considered in light of academic requirements to continue receiving NSFAS aid. A multivariate analysis in the report confirms the positive effect of NSFAS funding on six-year completion probability, and its negative effect on five-year dropout probability (Van Broekhuizen, Van der Berg, and Hofmeyr 2016).

### **South Korea**

Program description: Since student loans were introduced in the 1950s, they have had an important equity mission in South Korea and have been mostly targeted at low-income students. Historically, different government entities, including most recently the Korea Student Aid Foundation (KOSAF), have managed student loan schemes in conjunction with banks. Commercial banks have managed the loans and repayment, while the government subsidizes interest and guarantees the loans. Since 2011, two different student loan systems have run in parallel. The student loan-backed security scheme was established in 2005 and is nominally available to all students. The government-provided interest subsidy varies by family income level

(divided into 10 categories) and is nonexistent for the two highest categories, basically making it a private loan for students from the richest families (Hong and Chae 2011).

In 2010, South Korea introduced an income-contingent student loan program targeted at students from the eight poorest income categories (seven initially) (Kim and Park 2018). Unlike previous student loan schemes in Korea, this loan program does not rely on banks but is financed directly by the government. Repayment is 20 percent of income over a threshold equivalent to the minimum income for a four-member family (Hong and Chae 2011).

KOSAF is also responsible for the student loan scheme targeting students from rural areas, created in 1999 without the participation of commercial banks. The loan scheme targets students whose parents have a permanent address in an agricultural/farming or fishery area. The loans cover tuition fees and other educational fees, are interest-free, and include a two-year grace period after leaving higher education.

### Outcomes:

**Access:** Figure 4 shows that these loans were quite successful until 2014. Between 2005 and 2015, the number of loans awarded grew 65 percent, largely exceeding 1.6 percent growth in the total number of Korean students (Department of Education, Korean Educational Development Institute 2017). The number of loans awarded fell steeply after 2014, possibly due to declining enrollment numbers in South Korea, as well as migration to urban areas.

Academic performance: Evidence shows that students receiving loans from the student loan-backed security scheme do not perform as well academically as students who received income-contingent loans, even after controlling for parental income. This means that for two students from the same income background, choosing an income contingent loan over a security scheme loan has a positive relationship with academic performance (Han 2016).



FIGURE 4: Number of Student Loans for Students from Rural Areas Awarded Between 2005 and 2016

Sources: Korea Student Aid Foundation 2010, 2013, 2017

### Thailand

Program description: Thailand established its student loan program, the Student Loans Fund, in 1996, to increase opportunities for students from low-income backgrounds. The Student Loans Fund is an extensive loan package, covering tuition fees, education expenses, and cost of living. It is available only to students whose families earn less than some US\$4,600 per year (150,000 baht). Repayment occurs over 15 years, with rates of repayment increasing over time. The loans accrue no interest during the course of study and first year of repayment, and then the interest rate is one percent. Repayment is progressive as a percentage of the total loan size, starting at 1.5 percent the first year of repayment and ending at 13 percent in the 15th and last year (Tangkitvanich and Manasboonphempool 2010).

### Outcomes:

**Access:** A 2010 study (Tangkitvanich and Manasboonphempool 2010) evaluated the effectiveness of the Student Loans Fund in improving equity in the Thai higher education system. It showed that receiving a student loan does not increase the probability of participation in higher education for the overall student population. However, it does increase the probability of participation among the 13 percent of students who come from very low-income backgrounds (i.e., with income lower than approximately US\$900).

### Income-targeted free tuition

Income-targeted free-tuition financial aid policy has only recently been introduced in some higher education systems around the globe. Income-targeted free tuition consists of abolishing tuition fees in public institutions for students from low-income backgrounds, with the aim of improving access for those students. It was implemented in Chile and in the Canadian province of Ontario two years ago, and most recently in Italy, Japan, South Africa, the province of New Brunswick in Canada and the U.S. state of New York (Usher and Burroughs 2018). Because it is quite recent, there is little evidence of its impact on equity or attainment. Limited evidence for early adopters is presented below, but the aim of this section is primarily to inform the readers about this new approach.

### **Country examples**

### Chile

Program description: In 2016, Chile took the first step toward its full free-tuition policy. This consisted of offering free tuition to 50 percent of students from the poorest backgrounds. In 2018, Chile extended the opportunity to 60 percent of students from the poorest backgrounds.

### Outcomes:

Access: Early estimates from the Ministry of Education show that 15 percent of entrants in 2016 would not have enrolled if it were not for the free-tuition program (Delisle and Bernasconi 2018). However, there is concern that as Chile continues expanding the program to students from richer backgrounds, low-income students will be crowded out. Bucarey (2018) estimates that Chile could experience as much as a 20 percent decline in low-income student enrollment compared with the era before free tuition was introduced. Therefore, in Chile, income-targeted free tuition might be more efficient in terms of equity than the government's financial aid policy of free tuition for all.

### Ontario

Program description: Since 2016, Ontario has implemented a financial aid policy—the Ontario Student Assistance Program (OSAP)—in which the government pays the average provincial tuition fees for students with family income below CAN\$50,000. Contrary to Chile that has only one income threshold, Ontario's program provides for partial relief for students with incomes between CAN\$50,000 and CAN\$160,000. In 2017, one-third of Ontario's students went to college without paying tuition fees (Rushowy 2017; Usher and Burroughs 2018).

### Outcomes:

Access: Data on participation rates since the financial aid reform are not available, but the number of applicants for financial aid has increased, particularly among Indigenous students—a good first indicator of the program's reach (Chiose 2017). In early 2018, the government of Ontario announced changes to its funding system, including a 10 percent reduction of tuition fees in all programs receiving public subsidies and a reduction in grant amount offered through OSAP. Because in effect the grant will be reduced by a larger amount than tuition fees, Ontario is effectively ending its free-tuition program (Usher 2019a).

### **New York State**

**Program description:** In April 2017, the governor of New York announced the establishment of a new funding program called the Excelsior Scholarship for the CUNY and SUNY systems. This scholarship is targeted at students whose families earn less than \$110,000 (2018–2019 threshold). In practice, it covers the outstanding amount on tuition fees once other grants are taken into account, making it a last-dollar program.

### Outcomes:

Access: Students from lower-income families have low to no benefit from this scholarship because their tuition fees are already fully covered by other programs. The beneficiaries are students from families at the upper bound of the income limit. As a consequence, less than half of the 45,000 students who were eligible in 2017–2018 actually received Excelsior funding (Usher and Burroughs 2018). This means that only 3.2 percent of undergraduates in the state of New York were funded through this program—a relatively small proportion (Hilliard 2018).

In addition, the program has been widely criticized both for its coverage span—it fails to cover student expenses beyond tuition fees—and for its selectivity, in particular the requirement that students have to earn 30 credits per year in order to remain eligible for receiving program funds. In 2017–18, the credit requirement was the basis of 83 percent of rejections, taking into account a nearly 70 percent rejection rate overall for the program (Hilliard 2018).

However, communication around free tuition through the Excelsior program has had an early positive impact on enrollment and credit load. As of December 2017, the number of applications to the CUNY and SUNY systems for fall 2018 had increased by 11 and 9 percent, respectively, compared with fall 2017. Similarly, the number of first-year students taking more than 15 credits in their first semester in both systems has increased significantly—by 11 percent at SUNY and 39 percent at CUNY in fall 2017 compared with fall 2016 (New York State 2018).

### EVOLVING APPROACHES: UNIQUE "LINEAR TUITION" SYSTEM IN CROATIA

As discussed earlier, Croatia employed a dual-track tuition system until 2009, when students organized massive protests demanding free higher education for all. Despite the fact that this request has not been fully approved by the Croatian Government, as a result a unique "linear" tuition model has been adopted (Brajkovic 2015).

Beginning with the 2010–2011 academic year, admitted undergraduate and graduate students pay no tuition fees during their first year of studies. The government's rationale for this new system is that more students have a chance to study without paying tuition than in the previous dual-track system. After the first year, students are charged tuition fees depending on performance, according to a linear model based on the accumulated European Credit Transfer and Accumulation System (ECTS) measuring student progress. After the first year of study the government subsidizes institutions in the amount of €487 per student per year for students who met the minimum quota of 55 ECTS in the previous year (standard full-time annual course load is 60 credits). Students who meet this criterion continue to study tuition-free; those who do not are charged different tuition fee amounts proportionate to the number of ECTS they are missing below the 55-credit minimum.

This entirely meritocratic system does not address differing levels of academic preparation among students from lower and higher socioeconomic backgrounds, which affect their ability to obtain the required number of ECTS. Another problem for Croatian students is that need-based grants covering a small portion of tuition and living expenses are also tied to merit-based criteria (Doolan, Dolenec, and Domazet 2012). Additionally, a student loan system does not exist in Croatia. For these reasons, low-income students may be less likely to get free-tuition higher education beyond the second year, and might then drop out for financial reasons. Finally, there is no provision for part-time students, who must pay tuition fees.

Croatia's credits accumulation-based tuition model represents one of the most innovative approaches within the Bologna system. However, there is a lack of comparative data from other countries and institutional-level student data in Croatia are still not readily available, which makes the impacts of this policy on students as well as higher education institutions difficult to assess. Still, this approach may be promising for countries with inadequate or no student aid and loan programs, which is often the case in post-socialist societies of Central and Eastern Europe (Brajkovic 2015).

# INSTITUTION-LEVEL: PERFORMANCE-BASED POLICIES TARGETING ATTAINMENT

With access becoming universal or close to universal in many countries globally, completion has taken prominence on higher education policymakers' agendas. As ever more students enroll in higher education institutions, the focus has moved to making sure that these students leave higher education with a degree. Dropout rates, retention, persistence, completion, and attainment have therefore been the subject of many policy debates in recent years. Financial policies, and in particular performance-based financing, have been one of the main levers used by governments in an attempt to improve completion rates and address equity concerns (Vossensteyn et al. 2015). Incidentally, some financial policies primarily targeted at access have been found to also improve persistence (for example, need-based grants) (Bettinger 2004; Dynarski 2002).

Financial policies to advance both of these goals target students and/or institutions. At the individual level, many financial aid programs make renewal conditional upon credits earned and/or grade point average, to encourage progression for students on their way to completion. At the institutional level, performance-based funding policies incorporate output criteria—in particular, graduation rates—to incentivize institutions to support students through to degree attainment.

Theoretical frameworks trying to explain higher education drop-out and completion support both approaches. Students' persistence has indeed been linked to institutional attributes such as integration, institutional culture, and support (Terenzini and Reason 2005). But individual student characteristics, including but not limited to their socioeconomic background, gender, and motivation also matter (Vossensteyn et al. 2015).

Performance-based funding is a model in which public higher education institutions' budgets depend on institutional performance. Various funding formulas are used to determine funding allocations, mostly based on the results achieved in the recent past. In contrast to such an ex-post approach, a "performance agreement" usually is associated with a funding system that rewards institutions based on the expected results in the near future (De Boer et al. 2015).

In some states and countries, the number of enrolled students—when taken as a funding parameter—can be considered a performance indicator (e.g., in the German state of Thuringia). Other common indicators related to higher education equity and attainment include the number of students from underrepresented groups (e.g., in Australia, Ireland, Thuringia, and Tennessee), and study duration (e.g., in Austria, Denmark, the Netherlands, and Tennessee).

The impact of performance-based funding has been deemed positive in some cases, as in Louisiana, Tennessee, and Denmark, where graduation rates have improved significantly. However, it is important to note that performance-based funding policies and agreements are typically used alongside other policy instruments, and the interplay between them needs to be considered carefully, as it may produce unintended consequences (De Boer et al. 2015). For example, in order to meet the performance targets institutions may adjust their admission policies. They could become less restrictive to allow greater access or, alternatively, more restrictive favoring students likely to reach graduation targets.

Additionally, recent research has shown that policies linking student outcomes to a relatively high percentage of base funding (over 5 percent) for community colleges lead, on average, to more short-term certificates completed and fewer associate degrees completed. These results suggest potentially damaging consequences for students, because short-term certificates tend to lead to negative or minimal wage gains, while associate degrees offer substantial wage gains (Li, Kennedy, and Sebastian 2018) and a pathway to further study.

Finally, some researchers argue that performance-based funding could potentially negatively influence the overall quality of education, as universities shift their focus and priorities in order to meet performance targets (Hansen 2011).

### **Country examples**

### Denmark

Policy description: Performance-based funding for higher education in Denmark measures outputs related to student activity, such as the number of exams passed (De Boer et al. 2015). For research universities, public funding is mixed: 40 percent is a fixed amount, and 60 percent is based on performance. Additionally, universities receive a completion bonus, which depends on the duration of their students' study. A recent reform to Denmark's funding structure includes a new "completion agreement" stipulating that by 2020, universities will lose funding if students do not complete their studies on time (De Boer et al. 2015).

In addition to tuition-free higher education, the Danish government provides a monthly stipend to help students with their living expenses (Ahola et al. 2014; Johnstone 2014). The State Educational Grant, known as the SU, awards approximately US\$950 per month to students who are living away from home during college. Although higher education subsidies in Denmark are in line with the Nordic economic model—a comprehensive welfare state promoting economic security and social mobility—the current funding levels are widely considered unsustainable. Many think that Denmark is providing students with a level of financial support that exceeds the estimated future amount of taxes they will pay (DØRS 2018). This is particularly true because of the prolonged time to degree in Denmark, which has led to high government expenditures (Ahola et al. 2014).

### Outcomes:

Access: Even though recent widening participation policies have enabled inclusion of first-generation students in Denmark, an opportunity gap still exists, as the majority of these students enroll in less prestigious programs (Isopahkala-Bouret et al. 2018)

**Attainment:** Over the past decade, Denmark has seen increasingly higher levels of educational attainment. According to the Statistical Yearbook, 71 percent of 30- to 69-year olds in 2016 had completed professional qualifications (including vocational), up from 66 percent in 2006 (Statistics Denmark 2017). For higher education completion among 25- to 64-year olds, Denmark comes in at 37 percent, above the OECD average of 35 percent (Statistics Denmark 2017).

To improve on-time degree completion, Denmark introduced the Study Progress Reform in 2013. The goal was to reduce the average completion delay by 4.3 months by 2020. This was to be achieved by requiring students to register for a minimum number of ECTS (credits) each semester and removing the option of postponing courses. In addition, students were prevented from taking an excessive number of courses outside their degree program (Ahola et al. 2014; Redder 2017). Although the reform was met by resistance from both students and universities and considered a failure by many, it reduced completion time by an average of four months (Redder 2017).

### Tennessee

Policy description: In 2010, the state of Tennessee in the United States passed the Complete College Tennessee Act (CCTA), which introduced an outcomes-based funding formula to find "an equitable way to fund institutions of higher education in a manner that is stable and yet also prompts institutions to be more productive and efficient" (Tennessee Higher Education Commission, n.d.). With this system, institutions compete to get a share of state appropriations by showing progress in outcomes such as degree and certificate completion, student transfer, and graduation rates of full-time students.

CCTA rewards institutions for high educational attainment in particular. The program has two formulas, one for community colleges and one for universities. In the university formula, outcomes include student progression measured by the number of students reaching specific credit hour thresholds, number of degrees awarded at all levels, rate of completion, expenditures on research and services, transfer out with at least 12 credit hours, and six-year graduation rate. Additional indicators of progression are calculated specifically for focus populations—namely, adult students and Pell eligible students—as indicators of equity, and premiums are included to encourage the completion of these students. The formula for community college takes into account the specific mission of these institutions. It includes student progression measured by the number of students reaching specific credit hour thresholds (lower than for university), work force training, dual-enrollment students, associate degrees and certificates granted, rate of awards granted, job placements, transfer out with at least 12 credit hours, and remedial and developmental success (Johnson and Yanagiura 2016; Tennessee Higher Education Commission, n.d.).

Institutions have responded by switching their strategic focus from enrollment to completion, in line with the state strategy. As a result, they have implemented new student services, enhanced advising possibilities, and established new student affairs policies. In the case of the University of Tennessee, Knoxville, it led to a change in institutional financial aid to encourage completion in four years (Ness, Deupree, and Gandara 2015).

### **Outcomes:**

Access: The 2010 reform has led to significant changes for higher education in Tennessee, with mixed results for different groups of students. Enrollment of Pell Grant students in community colleges and universities has increased. However, enrollment of underrepresented minority students (Black and Hispanic) has actually decreased.

While the program has led to greater enrollment overall, the outcomes suggest the benefit may be greatest to students who least need state support—an important point regarding performance-based funding is the possibility that it may incentivize institutions to restrict admissions to students who are most likely to complete a degree. This phenomenon has not been formally recorded in Tennessee. However, the 2015 version of the funding formula addressed this concern by adding a third sub-population for community colleges: academically underprepared students (De Boer et al. 2015; Tennessee Higher Education Commission, n.d.).

Attainment: Progression toward degree improved for students enrolled in community colleges after 2010, but only for full-time students; the reform had an overall *negative* impact on part-time community college students. In universities, progression and attainment rates have increased among full-time students. However, no significant difference was found for Pell students in universities, nor for underrepresented minority students (except for two-year progression) (Callahan et al. 2017).

### **EVOLVING APPROACHES: COMPACTS IN AUSTRALIA**

Compacts are three-year agreements between the Commonwealth and universities in Australia—part of a comprehensive reform of Australia's higher education system. Individual compacts include specific indicators for performance, and institutions are required to report their performance annually to the Department of Industry, Innovation, Science, Research and Tertiary Education (DIISRTE). Each institution specifies indicators that are relevant to its objectives. However, some performance dimensions the DIISRTE specifies as essential indicators, such as participation by disadvantaged groups (De Boer et al. 2015). Examples of such indicators include number of all Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander student enrollments; number of all Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander student completions; number of all Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander academic staff, and similar measures (Center for Higher Education Policy Studies 2015). There is a comprehensive assessment of institutional performance every three years, when institutions negotiate a new agreement.

There is a rising sentiment in Australia that performance-based policies amount to a considerable bureaucratic burden with few positive effects on institutional behavior. As noted in the 2015 report by De Boer et al., several Australian university representatives have cast doubt on the need for compacts in the future, claiming, for example, that they risk becoming a way for universities "[...] doing deals with the government rather than just doing their stuff according to clear rules." Compacts might also have the "potential to be used for any negotiated 'soft capping' (i.e., restricting) of student numbers," a sort of unofficial repeal of the recent uncapping policy (38).

### TABLE 13: Targeted Financial Programs and Policies

STUDENT LEVEL: PROGRAMS TARGETING EQUITY IN ACCESS AND ATTAINMENT	These programs restrict eligibility criteria to what are perceived to be underserved minorities, thus providing additional financial help to specific categories of people. In a way, they constitute positive discrimination to achieve better equity in higher education, by giving more to the populations who need it.	
Targeted student grants	Widely used financial aid program to address equity issues. These grants use a wide variety of eligibility criteria and as a result can be targeted at many different groups. Eligible students receive grants directly from the government or a private funder.	E.g., Australia, U.S., England
Targeted student loans	These student loans are directed specifically at poor or disadvantaged students to help them afford the costs of higher education, thus contributing to social equity.	E.g., South Africa, South Korea, Thailand
Income-targeted free tuition	A very recent policy, consists of abolishing tuition fees in public institutions for students from low-income backgrounds. The aim of this policy is to improve access for students from economically disadvantaged background.	E.g., Chile, Canadian province of Ontario, Japan, South Africa, State of New York
INSTITUTION-LEVEL: PERFORMANCE-BASED POLICIES TARGETING ATTAINMENT	Performance funding policies incorporating output criteria, including completion rates, aimed at supporting institutions in their effort to ensure that students who enter higher education attain their degrees.	E.g., Australia, Denmark, Austria, state of Tennessee, state of Louisiana

### CONCLUDING REMARKS: RAISING EQUITY IN ACCESS AND ATTAINMENT THROUGH TARGETED FINANCING APPROACHES

The era of massification in higher education has contributed to ever-rising costs, which run parallel to increasing government austerity worldwide. In addition to introducing cost-sharing between governments and students and their families—mostly in the form of tuition fees—financial austerity has also imposed greater accountability on governments in order to maximize taxpayers' contributions. This means that governments around the world are considering financial policies that can help achieve their goals more efficiently, including addressing equity and attainment issues.

The overall analysis conducted in this report suggests that targeted approaches—loans, grants, tuition fees, or specific performance funding indicators—are more effective in increasing enrollment and attainment among low-income and underrepresented student populations than universal/blanket policies. Income-tar-geted tuition, for example, appears to be a promising policy option adaptable to a variety of national contexts, although it still needs to be properly evaluated in the years to come.

The high-fee/high-aid system represents a variation of this approach. But the targeted free-tuition (TFT) system recently implemented in Chile, Canada, Italy, South Africa, and the U.S. state of New York presents a less cumbersome system in terms of resources and support structures needed for implementation on a national level. The TFT model also offers a compelling political and economic argument by providing benefits to those who need it, thus addressing equity issues, without unnecessarily subsidizing students who can pay for their education (Usher 2018). However, the adoption of such a system would require a major shift in many countries from the concept of equality (a universal policy affecting all students) to the concept of equity (targeted resources aimed at students who need them).

Research and practice suggest there is no one-size-fits-all financial policy to achieve goals for equity and attainment, and that the overarching national context matters greatly. As noted by Usher (2018), policies tend to be embedded in larger and more complex systems and may not always translate well from one system to another. Despite the lack of direct transferability of specific approaches, it is worthwhile examining what works and does not work in multiple national systems, in order to learn about "the implicit trade-offs involved in policy making rather than to engage in cherry-picking policies from potentially incompatible systems" (Usher 2019b). This report provides such insights and facilitates a comparison of both innovative and traditional approaches to setting tuition fees and providing student financial aid around the world, with particular attention to the impact of each approach on equity and attainment.

Political climate and social values influence higher education policymaking worldwide, and often guide policy independent of economic rationales or equity considerations. An example of a politically driven policy is free higher education for all students. Despite its promise of offering universal higher education, to date there is no evidence that free-tuition higher education systems improve either equity or attainment. The evidence actually suggests just the opposite; such systems may even limit access for vulnerable and underrepresented student populations. Similar to countries with free-tuition policies, those employing low tuition fees with no financial aid also do not guarantee greater access, attainment, or equity to their students. The out-of-pocket expenses—such as room, board, and books—can effectively deter low-income and other disadvantaged students from accessing higher education.

High tuition-high aid systems, such as the one used in the United States, seem to allow for greater access in general. The existence of a robust financial aid system—including loans as well as grants at the federal, state, and institutional levels—has been successful in addressing equity considerations up to a point. Student loans enable wider participation of individuals from low-income or disadvantaged backgrounds during the era of rising tuition fees, but debt aversion still poses a major concern. An income-contingent loan system, therefore, is often seen as the "ideal type" of repayment setup, though its success is often predicated upon certain features of a nation's tax system that are not necessarily exportable to other countries (Usher 2019b).

While this report focuses on national-level policies, it is also important to recognize the role of higher education institutions in ensuring equity and student success through merit-based and other forms of financial aid to their students. Furthermore, although financial policies are crucial in addressing both attainment and equity, they are not sufficiently effective on their own. For example, the retention and completion of various student populations depend on many other factors, such as successful integration, available student support services, and quality of instruction, that also need to be the focus of policymaking at the institutional level.

Finally, the future design of funding models will require, in addition to creativity and hard work, a solid knowledge of unique national systems and approaches in order to conceive the right mix of policies suited to the specific national context. Our hope is that this report provides useful information and analysis that can be used by various stakeholders in the global higher education policy arena.

### REFERENCES

- Ahola, Sakari, Tina Hedmo, Jens-Peter Thomsen, and Agnete Vabø. 2014. Organisational Features of Higher Education; Denmark, Finland, Norway & Sweden. Prepared for Nordic Institute for Studies in Innovation, Research and Education (NIFU). https://www.nifu.no/en/publications/1162368/.
- Asplund, Risa, Oussama Ben Adbelkarim, and Ali Skalli. 2008. "An Equity Perspective on Access to, Enrollment in, and Finance of Tertiary Education." *Education Economics* 16 (3): 261–274.
- Australian Government Department of Education and Training. 2018. 2017 First Half Year Student Summary Tables. Canberra, Australia: Australian Government Department of Education and Training. https://docs.education.gov.au/node/50236.
- Azmat, Ghazala, and Stefania Simion. 2017. Higher Education Funding Reforms: A Comprehensive Analysis of Educational and Labor Market Outcomes in England. Discussion Paper Series No. 11083. Bonn, Germany: IZA–Institute of Labor Economics.
- Bates, Peter, Emma Pollard, Tom Usher, and Joy Oakley. 2009. Who Is Heading for HE? Young People's Perceptions of, and Decisions About, Higher Education. BIS Research Paper No. 3. London: Institute for Employment Studies.
- Berács, József, András Derényi, Péter Kádár-Csoboth, Gergely Kováts, István Polónyi, and József Temesi. 2017. *Hungarian Higher Education 2016: Strategic Progress Report*. Budapest, Hungary: Center for International Higher Education Studies.
- Berlinger, Edina. 2009. "An Efficient Student Loan System: Case Study of Hungary." *Higher Education in Europe* 34 (2): 257–267. https://doi.org/10.1080/03797720902867542.
- Bertrand, Marianne. 2011. "New Perspectives on Gender." In Handbook of Labor Economics, Vol. 4, edited by David Card and Orley Ashenfelter, 1543–1590. Amsterdam, The Netherlands: Elsevier. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0169-7218(11)02415-4.
- Bettinger, Eric. 2004. *How Financial Aid Affects Persistence*. NBER Working Paper Series No. 10242. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research. http://www.nber.org/papers/w10242.pdf.
- Bloom, David E., David Canning, and Kevin Chan. 2006. *Higher Education and Economic Development in Africa*. Africa Region Human Development Working Paper Series No. 102. Washington, DC: World Bank.
- Boatman, Angela, Brent J. Evans, and Adela Soliz. 2017. "Understanding Loan Aversion in Education: Evidence from High School Seniors, Community College Students, and Adults." *AERA Open* 3 (1): 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1177/2332858416683649.
- Bolton, Paul. 2019. *Student Loan Statistics*. Commons Briefing Papers No. 1079. London: House of Commons Library.

- Bonasegna Kelly, Cristina, and Daniel Levy. 2013. "Debating the Dropout Data on Argentina." *The World View* (blog), *Inside Higher Ed.* August 18, 2013. https://www.insidehighered.com/blogs/world-view/ debating-dropout-data-argentina.
- Brajkovic, Lucia. 2015. "Croatia's New Linear Tuition System: Students' Friend or Foe?" *International Higher Education* (79): 26–27.
- Bucarey, Alonso. 2018. "Who Pays for Free College? Crowding Out on Campus." Job Market Paper. Cambridge: Massachusetts Institute of Technology.
- Cahalan, Margaret, Laura W. Perna, Mika Yamashita, Roman Ruiz, and Khadish Franklin. 2017. *Indicators of Higher Education Equity in the United States: 2017 Historical Trend Report*. Washington, DC: Pell Institute for the Study of Higher Education, Council for Education Opportunity (COE), and Alliance for Higher Education and Democracy (AHEAD) of the University of Pennsylvania.
- Callahan, Kate, Kasey Meehan, Austin Slaughter, Kate Shaw, Leonard Wainstein, Ginger Stull, and Mark Duffy. 2017. "A Mixed Methods Examination of Outcomes-Based Funding in Tennessee." https:// aefpweb.org/sites/default/files/webform/42/MixedMethods%20Examination%20of%2OBF%20in%20 TN%20-%20Callahan,%20et%20al..pdf.
- Callender, Claire, and Jonathan Jackson. 2005. "Does the Fear of Debt Deter Students from Higher Education?" *Journal of Social Policy* 34 (4): 509–540. https://doi.org/10.1017/S004727940500913X.
- Carrol, B. 2004. "Dual Tuition Policy in Uganda." Unpublished research report prepared for the International Comparative Higher Education Finance and Accessibility Project.
- Castleman, Benjamin L., and Bridget Terry Long. 2016. "Looking Beyond Enrollment: The Causal Effect of Need-Based Grants on College Access, Persistence, and Graduation." *Journal of Labor Economics* 34 (4): 1023–1073. https://doi.org/10.1086/686643.
- CEDLAS and The World Bank. 2017. *Socio-Economic Database for Latin America and the Caribbean*. Dataset. http://www.cedlas.econo.unlp.edu.ar/wp/en/estadisticas/sedlac/.
- Center for Higher Education Policy Studies. 2015. *Performance-Based Funding and Performance Agreements in Fourteen Higher Education Systems*. https://ris.utwente.nl/ws/portalfiles/portal/5139542/ jongbloed+ea+performance-based-funding-and-performance-agreements-in-fourteen-higher-educationsystems.pdf.
- Chiose, Simona. 2017. "OSAP Applications Rise After Ontario Streamlines Student-Aid System." *The Globe and Mail*, September 11, 2017. https://www.theglobeandmail.com/news/national/education/osap-applications-rise-after-ontario-streamlines-student-aid-system/article36234322/.
- Cloete, Nico. 2015. "The Flawed Ideology of 'Free Higher Education." *University World News*, November 6, 2015. http://www.universityworldnews.com/article.php?story=20151104111825416#.VkDTuAIa-xI.gmail.
- CNE (Conselho Nacional de Educação). 2017. Parecer 'Acesso ao Ensino Superior,' 129ª Sessão Plenária do CNE. http://www.cnedu.pt/pt/noticias/cne/1203-parecer-acesso-ao-ensino-superior-129-sessao-plenaria-doconselho-nacional-de-educacao.
- Dearden, Lorraine, Emla Fitzsimons, and Gill Wyness. 2011. *The Impact of Tuition Fees and Support on University Participation in the U.K.* IFS Working Papers No. W11/17. London: Institute for Fiscal Studies.

- Dearden, Lorraine, Emla Fitzsimons, and Gill Wyness. 2014. "Money for Nothing: Estimating the Impact of Student Aid on Participation in Higher Education." *Economics of Education Review* 43: 66–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2014.09.005.
- De Boer, Harry, Ben Jongbloed, Paul Benneworth, Leon Cremonini, Renze Kolster, Andrea Kottmann, Katharina Lemmens-Krug, and Hans Vossensteyn. 2015. *Performance-Based Funding and Performance Agreements in Fourteen Higher Education Systems: Report for the Ministry of Education, Culture, and Science.* Enschede, The Netherlands: Center for Higher Education Policy Studies.
- DEED (Diretoria de Estatísticas Educacionais). 2018. *Resumo Técnico: Censo da Educaçao Superior 2015*. Brasília: Instituto Nacional de Estudos e Pesquisas Educacionais Anísio Teixeira. http://download. inep.gov.br/educacao\_superior/censo\_superior/resumo\_tecnico/resumo\_tecnico\_censo\_da\_educacao\_ superior\_2015.pdf.
- De Gayardon, Ariane. 2018. "There Is No Such Thing as Free Higher Education: A Global Perspective on the (Many) Realities of Free Systems." *Higher Education Policy*, May: 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41307-018-0095-7.
- De Gayardon, Ariane, Claire Callender, KC Deane, and Stephen DesJardins. 2018. *Graduate Indebtedness: Its Perceived Effects on Behaviour and Life Choices—A Literature Review.* Working Paper No. 38. London: Centre for Global Higher Education.
- Delisle, Jason, and Andrés Bernasconi. 2018. *Lessons from Chile's Transition to Free College*. Evidence Speaks Report No. 43. Washington, DC: Brookings Institute.
- Denning, Jeffrey T., Benjamin M. Marx, and Lesley J. Turner. 2017. ProPelled: The Effects of Grants on Graduation, Earnings, and Welfare. NBER Working Paper No. 23860. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research. https://doi.org/10.3386/w23860.
- Department for Business, Innovation and Skills. 2015. *Student Finance Equality Analysis—The Education (Student Support) (Amendment) Regulations 2015.* London: Department for Business, Innovation and Skills. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/482110/bis-15-639-student-finance-equality-analysis.pdf.
- Department of Education, Korean Educational Development Institute. 2017. 2017 Brief Statistics on Korean Education. Seoul, Korea: Department of Education, Korean Educational Development Institute.
- DEPP. 2016. *Repères et Références Statistiques 2016*: Sur les Enseignements, la Formation et la Recherche. http://cache.media.education.gouv.fr/file/2016/97/5/depp\_rers\_2016\_614975.pdf.
- DGEEC (Direção-Geral de Estatísticas da Educação e Ciência). 2015. Enrolments and Graduates in Higher Education in Portugal–Statistical Analysis and International Comparison.
- Doolan, Karin, Danijela Dolenec, and Mladen Domazet. 2012. *The Croatian Higher Education Funding System in a European Context: A Comparative Study.* Zagreb, Croatia: Institute for the Development of Education. http://www.finhed.org/media/files/06-ACCESS\_Student\_support\_ENG\_web.pdf.
- DØRS (De Økonomiske Råd). 2018. Danish Economy, Spring 2018: Summary and Recommendations. Copenhagen, Denmark: DØRS. https://dors.dk/files/media/rapporter/2018/F18/english\_summary/f18\_ summary\_and\_recommendations.pdf.

- Dynarski, Susan. 2002. "The Behavioral and Distributional Implications of Aid for College." *American Economic Review* 92 (2): 279–285.
- Dynarski, Susan. 2016. *The Trouble with Student Loans? Low Earnings, Not High Debt.* Washington, DC: Brookings Institute.
- European Commission. 2017. *Education and Training Monitor 2017*. Luxembourg: Publication Office of the European Union.
- European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice. 2016. *National Student Fee and Support Systems in European Higher Education—2016/17*. Eurydice Facts and Figures. Luxembourg City, Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. https://publications.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/ c53a1fa6-aa5d-11e6-aab7-01aa75ed71a1/language-en.
- Eurostat. 2016. *Education and Training*. Dataset. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/education-and-training/data/database.
- Ey, Carol. 2018. *The Higher Education Loan Program (HELP) and Related Loans: A Chronology.* Research Paper Series No. 2017–18. Canberra, Australia: Parliamentary Library. https://parlinfo.aph.gov.au/ parlInfo/download/library/prspub/5872304/upload\_binary/5872304.pdf.
- Ferreira, M. Luisa, and Erika Farkas. 2009. "The Hungarian Student Loan Scheme: Six Years of Financing Access to Higher Education." *Higher Education Review* 41 (2): 23–47.
- Frenette, Marc. 2017. Postsecondary Enrollment by Parental Income: Recent National and Provincial Trends. Economics Insights No. 070. Ottawa: Statistics Canada. http://publications.gc.ca/collections/ collection\_2017/statcan/11-626-x/11-626-x2017070-eng.pdf.
- Gallop, Cynthia J., and Nicole Bastien. 2016. "Supporting Success: Aboriginal Students in Higher Education." *Canadian Journal of Higher Education* 46 (2):, 206–224.
- Goldrick-Rab, Sara. 2016. *Paying the Price: College Costs, Financial Aid, and the Betrayal of the American Dream*. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Goldrick-Rab, Sara, Robert Kelchen, Douglas N. Harris, and James Benson. 2016. "Reducing Income Inequality in Educational Attainment: Experimental Evidence on the Impact of Financial Aid on College Completion." *American Journal of Sociology* 121 (6): 1762–1817. https://doi.org/10.1086/685442.
- Guerra Botello, Rodrigo, Goolam Mohamedbhai, Concepcion Pijano, and Jamil Salmi. 2019. *Is Free Tuition the Panacea to Improve Equity in Higher Education?* Policy Brief No. 13. Washington, DC: Council for Higher Education Accreditation.
- Han, Sung Min. 2016. "Student Academic Performance, Dropout Decisions and Loan Defaults: Evidence from the Government College Loan Program." *KDI Journal of Economic Policy* 38 (1): 71–91.
- Hansen, Hanne Foss. 2011. "University Reforms in Denmark and the Challenges for Political Science." *European Political Science* 10 (2): 235–247.
- Hilliard, Tom. 2018. *Excelsior Scholarship Serving Very Few New York Students*. New York, NY: Center for an Urban Future.
- Hong, Hee Kyung, and Jae-Eun Chae. 2011. "Student Loan Policies in Korea: Evolution, Opportunities, and Challenges." *Educational Research Journal* 26 (1): 99–122.

- Isopahkala-Bouret, Ulpukka, Mikael Börjesson, Dennis Beach, Nina Haltia, Jon Torfi Jónasson, Annukka Jauhiainen, Sonja Kosunen, Hanna Nori, and Agnete Vabø. 2018. "Access and Stratification in Nordic Higher Education: A Review of Cross-Cutting Research Themes and Issues." *Education Inquiry* 9 (1): 142–154. https://tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/20004508.2018.1429769.
- Jackson, Roy. 2002. "The National Student Financial Aid Scheme of South Africa (NSFAS): How and Why It Works." *The Welsh Journal of Education* 11 (1): 82–94.
- Johnson, Nate, and Takeshi Yanagiura. 2016. *Early Results of Outcomes-Based Funding in Tennessee*. Indianapolis, IN: Lumina Foundation. https://www.luminafoundation.org/files/resources/earlyresults-tn-0314-1.pdf.
- Johnstone, D. Bruce. 2003. "Cost-Sharing in Higher Education: Tuition, Financial Assistance, and Accessibility." *Czech Sociological Review* 39 (3): 351–374.
- Johnstone, D. Bruce. 2004. "Higher Education Finance and Accessibility: Tuition Fees and Student Loans in Sub-Saharan Africa." *Journal of Higher Education in Africa* 2 (2): 11–36.
- Johnstone, D. Bruce. 2014. Financing Higher Education: Worldwide Perspectives and Policy Options. Buffalo, NY: International Comparative Higher Education Finance and Accessibility Project, Center for Comparative and Global Studies in Education, State University of New York at Buffalo. http://gseweb. gse.buffalo.edu/org/inthigheredfinance/files/Recent\_Publications/Financing%20H%20Ed%20WW%20 Perspectives%20and%20policy%20options%20revised.pdf.
- Johnstone, D. Bruce, and Pamela N. Marcucci. 2010. *Financing Higher Education Worldwide: Who Pays? Who Should Pay?* Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Kariya, Takehiko. 2011. "Japanese Solutions to the Equity and Efficiency Dilemma? Secondary Schools, Inequity, and the Arrival of 'Universal' Higher Education." Oxford Review of Education 37 (2): 241–266. https://doi.org/10.1080/03054985.2011.559388.
- Kelchen, Robert. 2017. "A Look at Pell Grant Recipients' Graduation Rates." *The Brown Center Chalkboard* (blog), Brookings Institution. October 25, 2017. https://www.brookings.edu/blog/brown-centerchalkboard/2017/10/25/a-look-at-pell-grant-recipients-graduation-rates/.
- Kerby, Molly B. 2015. "Toward a New Predictive Model of Student Retention in Higher Education: An Application of Classical Sociological Theory." *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice* 17 (2): 138–161. https://doi.org/10.1177/1521025115578229.
- Kim, Byoungjoo, and Namgi Park. 2018. "Lessons Learned from Financing Universal Higher Education in Korea." *International Journal of Educational Development* 58 (January): 116–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijedudev.2017.09.010.
- Kobayashi, Masayuki, and Shiro Patrick Armstrong. 2017. *Financing Higher Education in Japan and the Need for Reform*. AJRC Working Paper No. 02/2017. Canberra: Australia-Japan Research Centre. http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3056850.
- Korea Student Aid Foundation. 2010. 2009 Korea Student Aid Foundation Annual Report. Seoul: Korea Student Aid Foundation.
- Korea Student Aid Foundation. 2013. Korea Student Aid Foundation Annual Report 2012. Seoul: Korea Student Aid Foundation.
- Korea Student Aid Foundation. 2017. 2016 KOSAF Annual Report. Seoul: Korea Student Aid Foundation.

- Li, Amy Y., Alec I. Kennedy, and Margaret L. Sebastian. 2018. Policy Design Matters: The Impact of Performance Funding Policies on Credential Completion at Community Colleges. Madison, WI: Wisconsin Center for the Advancement of Postsecondary Education. https://wiscape.wisc.edu/docs/WebDispenser/ wiscapedocuments/pb028.pdf?sfvrsn=0.
- Li, Wenli, and Weifang Min. 2000. *Tuition, Private Demand, and Higher Education Expansion in China*. Beijing, China: Graduate School of Education, Peking University.
- Mateju, Petr, and Natalie Simonova. 2003. "Czech Higher Education Still at the Crossroads." *Czech Sociological Review* 39 (3): 393–410.
- Marcucci, Pamela, and D. Bruce Johnstone. 2007. "Tuition Fee Policies in a Comparative Perspective: Theoretical and Political Rationales." *Journal of Higher Education Policy and Management* 29 (1): 25-40.
- Marcucci, Pamela, D. Bruce Johnstone, and Mary Ngolovoi. 2008. "Higher Educational Cost-Sharing, Dual-Track Tuition Fees, and Higher Educational Access: The East African Experience." *Peabody Journal of Education* 83 (1): 101–116.
- McCowan, Tristan. 2004. "The Growth of Private Higher Education in Brazil: Implications for Equity and Quality." *Journal of Education Policy* 19 (4): 453–472. https://doi.org/10.1080/0268093042000227492.
- Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science, and Technology. 2018. "Statistics: 1. Overview." Accessed October 4, 2018. http://www.mext.go.jp/en/publication/statistics/title01/detail01/1373636.htm.
- Mundel, David, and Lois Dickinson Rice. 2008. *The Impact of Increases in Pell Grant Awards on College-Going Among Lower Income Youth: Evidence from a Natural Experiment*. CCF Brief No. 40. Washington, DC: Center on Children and Families.
- Murphy, Richard, and Gill Wyness. 2016. *Testing Means-Tested Aid*. CEP Discussion Paper No. 1396. London: London School of Economics and Political Science, Centre for Economic Performance.
- National Research University Higher School of Economics. 2014. "Making Way to Global University Rankings: Russian Master Plan." *Higher Education in Russia and Beyond (HERB)*, no. 1 (Spring). https:// www.hse.ru/data/2014/05/16/1321296879/HERB\_01\_Spring.pdf.
- Ness, Erik C., Mary M. Deupree, and Denisa Gándara. 2015. "Campus Responses to Outcomes-Based Funding in Tennessee: Robust, Aligned, and Contested." Nashville: Tennessee Higher Education Commission.
- New York State. 2018. "Governor Cuomo Announces a 10 Percent Increase in Applications at SUNY Four-Year Schools and CUNY Institutions as a Result of the Excelsior Scholarship Program." Press release, February 6, 2018. https://www.governor.ny.gov/news/governor-cuomo-announces-10-percent-increaseapplications-suny-four-year-schools-and-cuny.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. 2014. *Education at a Glance 2014: OECD Indicators*. Paris, France: OECD Publishing. http://www.oecd.org/education/Education-at-a-Glance-2014.pdf.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. 2017. *Education at a Glance 2017: OECD Indicators*. Paris, France: OECD Publishing. https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/education/education-at-a-glance-2017\_eag-2017-en.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. 2018. *Education at a Glance 2018: Country Notes.* Paris, France: OECD Publishing. https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/education/education-at-aglance-2018\_eag-2018-en.

- Post, David. 2011. "Constitutional Reform and the Opportunity for Higher Education Access in Ecuador Since 1950." *Education Policy Analysis Archives* 19 (20). https://doi.org/10.14507/epaa.v19n20.2011.
- Redder, Anders. 2017. "Briefing: The Danish Study Progress Reform from Cradle to Grave." *University Post*, August 9, 2017. https://uniavisen.dk/en/overblik-fremdriftsreformen-vugge-mulig-grav/.
- Rushowy, Kristin. 2017. "One-Third of Ontario College and University Students Receive Free Tuition Grants." *The Star*, September 11, 2017. https://www.thestar.com/news/queenspark/2017/09/11/one-thirdof-ontario-college-and-university-students-receive-free-tuition.html.
- Salmi, Jamil, and Andrée Sursock. 2018. *Access and Completion for Underserved Students: International Perspectives*. Washington, DC: Alliance for Global Innovation in Tertiary Education.
- Sawyerr, Akilagpa. 2002. "Challenges Facing African Universities: Selected Issues." Accra, Ghana: Association of African Universities, November 2002.
- Shapiro, Doug, Afet Dundar, Phoebe Khasiala Wakhungu, Xin Yuan, Angel Nathan, and Youngsik Hwang. 2017. A National View of Student Attainment Rates by Race and Ethnicity—Fall 2010 Cohort. Signature Report No. 12b. Herndon, VA: National Student Clearinghouse Research Center.
- Smith, James, Kellie Pollard, Kim Roberston, and Fiona Shalley. 2018. Strengthening Evaluation in Indigenous Higher Education Contexts in Australia: 2017 Equity Fellowship Report. Perth, Australia: National Centre for Student Equity in Higher Education.
- Smolentseva, Anna. 2017. "Universal Higher Education and Positional Advantage: Soviet Legacies and Neoliberal Transformations in Russia." *Higher Education* 73 (2): 209–226.
- Statistics Canada. 2017. Education in Canada: Key Results from the 2016 Census. Ottawa: Statistics Canada.
- Statistics Canada. n.d. Table 37-10-0036-01 National Graduates Survey, Student Debt from All Sources, by Province and Level of Study. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/ cv.action?pid=3710003601#timeframe.
- Statistics Denmark. 2017. *Statistical Yearbook 2017*. https://www.dst.dk/Site/Dst/Udgivelser/GetPubFile. aspx?id=22257&sid=sy.
- Studyportals. 2018. "Tuition Fees at Universities in Europe in 2018 Overview and Comparison." https:// www.mastersportal.com/articles/405/tuition-fees-at-universities-in-europe-in-2018-overview-andcomparison.html.
- Tangkitvanich, Somkiat, and Areeya Manasboonphempool. 2010. "Evaluating the Student Loan Fund of Thailand." *Economics of Education Review* 29 (5): 710–721. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. econedurev.2010.04.007.
- Tennessee Higher Education Commission. n.d. *Outcomes-Based Funding Formula*. https://www.tn.gov/ content/dam/tn/thec/bureau/fiscal\_admin/fiscal\_pol/obff/1-Outcomes\_Based\_Formula\_Narrative\_-\_ for\_website.pdf.
- Terenzini, Patrick T., and Robert D. Reason. 2005. "Parsing the First Year of College: Rethinking the Effects of College on Students." Presented at the Annual Conference of the Association for the Study of Higher Education, Philadelphia, PA.

- Thorp, Summer. 2013. "Aboriginal Postsecondary Education in Canada and the Standing Committee on Aboriginal Affairs and Northern Development: A Critical Policy Analysis." Master's thesis, The University of Western Ontario.
- Trow, Martin. 2006. "Reflections on the Transition from Elite to Mass to Universal Access Forms and Phases of Higher Education in Modern Societies Since WWII." In *International Handbook of Higher Education*, edited by J. J. F. Forest and P. G. Altbach, 83–106. Dordrecht, the Netherlands: Springer.
- Universities Australia. 2018. 2017 Universities Australia Student Finances Survey. Deakin: Universities Australia. https://www.universitiesaustralia.edu.au/ArticleDocuments/208/180713%20%202017%20 UA%20Student%20Finance%20Survey%20Report.pdf.aspx.
- Usher, Alex. 2009. The Post-Secondary Student Support Program: An Examination of Alternative Delivery Mechanisms. Toronto, Canada: Educational Policy Institute.
- Usher, Alex. 2018. "Student Debt Not Increasing Whatsoever (Shocker)." *Higher Education Strategy Associates*, June 28. http://higheredstrategy.com/student-debt-not-increasing-whatsoever-shocker/.
- Usher, Alex. 2019a. "That Ontario Tuition/OSAP Announcement." *Higher Education Strategy Associates*, January 18. http://higheredstrategy.com/that-ontario-tuition-osap-announcement/.
- Usher, Alex. 2019b. "The Architecture of Student Loan Systems." In *International Perspectives in Higher Education: Balancing Access, Equity, and Cost*, edited by Jason D. Delisle and Alex Usher, 29–48. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Education Press.
- Usher, Alex, and Robert Burroughs. 2018. *Targeted Tuition Fees: Is Means-Testing the Answer?* HEPI Report No. 112. London: Higher Education Policy Institute; Toronto, Canada: Higher Education Strategy Associates. https://www.hepi.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/HEPI-Targeted-tuition-fees-Is-meanstesting-the-answer-Report-112.pdf.
- Van Broekhuizen, Hendrik, Servaas van der Berg, and Heleen Hofmeyr. 2016. *Higher Education Access and Outcomes for the 2008 National Matric Cohort*. Stellenbosch Economic Working Papers No. 16/16. Stellenbosch, South Africa: University of Stellenbosch.
- Van Hoof, Hubert B., Mateo Estrella, Marie-Isabel Eljuri, and Leonardo Torres León. 2013. "Ecuador's Higher Education System in Times of Change." *Journal of Hispanic Higher Education* 12 (4): 345–355. https://doi.org/10.1177/1538192713495060.
- Vossensteyn, Hans, Andrea Kottmann, Ben Jongbloed, Frans Kaiser, Leon Cremonini, Bjorn Stensaker, and Elisabeth Hovdhaugen. 2015. Dropout and Completion in Higher Education in Europe. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. http://bookshop.europa.eu/ uri?target=EUB:NOTICE:NC0415779:EN:HTML.
- Woodhall, Maureen. 2001. "Financing Higher Education." International Higher Education (22): 12-14.
- Zacharias, Nadine, Brenda Cherednichenko, Juliana Ryan, Kelly George, Linda Gasparini, Mary Kelly, Smitha Mandre-Jackson, Annette Cairnduff, and Danny Sun. 2016. *Moving Beyond 'Acts of Faith': Effective Scholarships for Equity Students*. Perth, Australia: National Centre for Student Equity in Higher Education.
- Ziderman, Adrian. 2013. "Student Loan Schemes in Practice: A Global Perspective." In *Student Financing of Higher Education*, edited by Donald E. Heller and Claire Callender, 32–60. London: Routledge.

